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Chairman’s message

I am honoured to report our financial 
results for 2015. In line with our 
strategic objectives, our commitment to 
developing a sustainable business model 
enabled us to remain agile in a fast-
changing environment, deliver positive 
results and continued shareholder value. 

While global markets reverberated, 
we used the UAE Government’s 
commitment to building a sustainable, 
diversified economy to help shape our 
own business, products and services, 
to best protect our company from the 
potential effects. 

To balance the challenging external 
market factors, throughout 2015, our 
company entered a phase of maturity 
and transformation. We focused on 
ensuring efficiency and innovation is 
integrated throughout everything we 
do in order to protect and reinforce our 
business model. As a result, we are able 
to demonstrate positive results across 
our key focus areas, particularly in the 
field of mobile data revenue. 

Throughout 2015 we continued to 
develop our business to align with the 
UAE’s Smart Government initiative in 
accordance with Vision 2021. Smart 
City is a vital component of the UAE’s 
drive to become a leading integrated 
technology provider, and we have a 
significant contribution to make, ensuring 
that the social fabric of our nation 
remains interconnected through the 
use of smart and simple technology. By 
focusing on innovative propositions that 

meet the requirements of our rapidly 
evolving consumer base, including a 
focus on providing high speed data, we 
are dedicated to helping achieve Dubai’s 
self-declared ambition of becoming 
the leading Smart City in the world. 
While Government backing is crucial, 
they will need help to make their Smart 
City ambitions a reality – and that’s 
where the private sector, especially 
telecommunications, can play a big part. 

During 2015, we progressed a number 
of Smart initiatives designed to improve 
the lives of UAE residents, including 
the Smart Lighting and Smart Meter 
programmes implemented across Dubai. 
As a result, we are working tirelessly to 
ensure that Dubai is a Smart City today, 
we don’t want to wait for tomorrow. 

The transition of our strategy to 
focus on facilitating digital integration 
across the UAE is due to our belief 
that telecommunication is the heart 
of societal change and can positively 
impact the quality of people’s lives. 
This transformation has required the 
commitment and dedication of our 
inspirational employees. Every day 
they contribute to the success of our 
company, driving our strategy forward, 
and coming to management, and the 
Board, with truly innovative ideas on 
how we can further serve our customers. 
It is due to each and every one of their 
valuable contributions that we are able 
to deliver consistently strong results 
and shareholder value, whatever the 
economic environment.

Our commitment to developing a sustainable business model 
enabled us to remain agile in a fast-changing environment 
and deliver positive results 

Ahmad Bin Byat
Chairman

In 2015 we 
continued to 
develop our 
business to align 
with the UAE’s 
Smart Government 
initiative in 
accordance with 
Vision 2021.

Chairman’s message 
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Ensuring the wellbeing of our people is 
a key focus for our company. We have 
implemented and enhanced a number of 
initiatives centered on health and wellness 
that benefit our people and contribute 
to the development of a positive work 
environment. 

In line with the UAE’s Vision 2021 and 
the Government’s pledge to address 
the number of UAE nationals working 
in the private sector, our Emiratisation 
strategy continues to flourish. Today, 
the proportion of Emirati employees 
represents 33% of our total staff and 
58% of the company’s senior executives. 
In order to deliver our strategy, we have 
continued to attract highly skilled people to 
develop our talent through management 
training and mentorship programmes. 

Our efforts to transform our company are 
focused on reinvigorating our strategy, 
central to this is a commitment to ensure 
stability through the implementation of 
internationally recognised governance 
policies and procedures. Without an 
enduring commitment to best practice 
and the highest standards of business 
integrity and accountability, our efforts to 
transform the business would be lost. I 
am honoured to work alongside such an 
experienced Board as together we work 
with the company to adhere to all SCA 
requirements, going above and beyond 
the prescribed stipulations. 

As ever, we have disclosed all material 
related party transactions that occurred 
in 2015 within the financial statements 
and continued efforts were made by the 

Board to ensure that the conditions of the 
transactions are fair, reasonable and in the 
interests of the shareholders.

Our strategy and vision remains centered 
on the needs of our customers. We 
continue to deliver best in class products 
and services that help improve the lives 
of all our subscribers. Our focus on 
improving infrastructure and the efficiency 
of operations in previous years has 
allowed us to provide consistent, long term 
shareholder value and protected us against 
some challenging external conditions. 

As such, I am pleased to report that the 
Board of Directors has proposed a final 
annual dividend of AED 0.20 per share for 
the year 2015, making the total dividend 
for the year AED 0.43 per share of which, 
AED 0.13 per share was awarded as an 
interim dividend, and AED 0.10 as special 
dividend per share.

Once again, our Board has helped guide 
our company strategy along a path that 
will position us well for the future. I remain 
very grateful for their advice and support 
and would like to extend my thanks for 
their time and effort in 2015. In this regard, 
I would like to thank Mr Waleed Al Muhairi, 
a nominee Director on the Board for his 
support during his tenure, and welcome 
Mr Homaid Al Shemmari in his place. 

We see tremendous opportunities over 
the coming years and we have established 
a strategy that will help us make the most 
of these opportunities for the benefit of 
both our customers, employees and our 
shareholders.

Chairman’s message 

Throughout 2015 our company 
entered a phase of transformation; 
our focus was to ensure that 
efficiency and innovation is integrated 
throughout everything we do. 
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CEO’s message

I am pleased to announce that 2015 was 
another profitable year for our company. 
We were able to deliver positive results 
across the majority of key indicators for 
the ninth consecutive successful year, 
maintaining our record of delivering 
strong value for both our customers and 
our shareholders. 

Whilst the important ‘My Number,  
My Identity’ initiative, as directed by the 
Government, had a significant impact 
on both our subscriber base and our 
revenues, with the suspension of over  
1.1 million customers in 2015, our 
commitment to developing a diversified, 
sustainable business model that provides 
innovative, bespoke products for our 
consumer and enterprise customers has 
enabled us to buffer much of the effect. 

In 2015 we achieved growth with like 
for like revenues of AED 12.34 billion, an 
increase of 0.8% on 2014. Due to our 
dedication to continuous improvement, 
we saw operational efficiency gain 
strength and as such, 2015 led to healthy 
levels of profitability with EBITDA for 2015 
reaching AED 5.42 billion, representing 
annual growth of 7.7%. Net profit before 
royalty grew by 4.3% to reach AED 3.86 
billion for the year. However, an increase 
of  20.6 % in the royalty charges resulted 
in the achievement of net profit after 
royalty of AED 1.94 billion, compared to 
AED 2.11 billion in 2014.

Telecommunications is at the heart 
of society and the transformation of 
our relationship with technology. It is 
the driver of change, efficiency and 

happiness in our community, and as 
a sector, it is currently going through 
a revolution. We are in the midst of a 
paradigm shift where customers are 
consuming content and data in newer 
and varied ways, largely in digital 
formats. As a result, the industry is 
under pressure to innovate and come 
up with new ways to best serve their 
requirements of customers. 

During the course of 2015, our customers’ 
demand for connectivity remained strong. 
This translated into significant growth 
in mobile data revenue which increased 
by 7.3% from AED 2.76 billion in 2014 to 
AED 2.96 billion. As was the case last year, 
data now represents a larger percentage 
of mobile service revenues, at 32% 
compared to 29.8% in 2014.

From an industry point of view, we 
continued to see pressure from the 
popularity of internet-based platforms 
(VOIP) affecting the monetisation 
of communication, and also strong 
competition in the market. Similar to 
global trends, our customers demand 
services that go beyond connectivity; 
they want digitally focused products 
that provide simplicity and fit directly into 
their lifestyles. To remain competitive in 
the sector, and to protect the success 
we have built since inception in 2006, 
we devised a strategy that progressed 
our business towards becoming an 
integrated digital enabler. 

In line with the UAE’s Vision 2021, and 
the ambition of creating an innovation-
led economy, we have been working 

Osman Sultan
Chief Executive Officer

In 2015 we focused 
on invigorating 
our business and 
ensuring that 
innovation is at the 
core of everything 
we do. 

In 2015 we were able to deliver positive results for the ninth 
consecutive successful year, maintaining our record of 
delivering strong value for our customers and our shareholders
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tirelessly to develop our network 
infrastructure and deliver market-
leading and innovative services for our 
customers. As such, last year, we focused 
on invigorating our business and ensuring 
that innovation is at the core of everything 
we do. 

By embedding structural change and 
improving efficiency, we continued 
to build our capabilities to ensure an 
even better customer experience in an 
increasingly connected, data driven era. 
Our teams have reveled in the challenge 
to embed a culture of innovation, in line 
with His Highness Sheikh Mohammed bin 
Rashid Al Maktoum’s innovation strategy, 
implementing cutting-edge solutions 
designed to enhance our customer’s 
experience.

We are committed to many of the UAE’s 
major initiatives to enhance the lives of UAE 
citizens and the development of a digitally-
enabled ecosystem. The UAE’s ‘Smart 
Government’ and Dubai’s ‘Smart City’ 
initiatives are excellent examples of this. 

We have already built the foundations for a 
Smart City with WiFi UAE and showcased 
our roadmap of Dubai as a Smart City at 
the first Internet of Things network in the 
Middle East, and we have also developed 
a mechanism to analyse habits and 
trends of visitors to Dubai, providing the 
Government with useful statistics.

Also, having been awarded the 
Government’s FEDnet initiative contract 
in 2014, we began work to deliver high 
speed connectivity and consolidation 

between federal institutions, installed the 
UAE’s first Smart street lights in Dubai 
Silicon Oasis, we also supported DEWA 
in installing our Smart Meters to improve 
energy efficiency and addressed business 
efficiency and smart fleet management 
using machine to machine technology. 

Our ability to remain agile in a fast-
moving and challenging macro-economic 
environment is down to our people. They 
remain our biggest asset and without 
their dedication to serving our customers 
we would not have been able to initiate the 
transformation of our business model to 
protect and enhance shareholder value. 
Therefore, I would also like to express my 
gratitude to all of our employees for their 
hard work over the last twelve months. 

We remain committed to nurturing 
the well-being and development of 
our employees so that we may lay the 
foundations for continued shareholder 
value and a sustainable future for our 
company. As a result, we were delighted 
to receive a Gallup score of 4.39 for 
2015, a significant achievement on an 
international employee satisfaction 
barometer.

I am truly excited about the future of our 
company and to witness the fruits of our 
work. The past year has been demanding, 
but as we transition for the digital future, 
I would like to thank our shareholders for 
their continued trust and our Board of 
Directors who have provided unerring 
guidance and support during this time  
of change. 
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Our Board of Directors

Our Board is committed to ensuring that we have the 
best team in place to execute an innovative, sustainable 
and ethical strategy that delights our customers and 
retains shareholder value

Khaled Balama
Vice Chairman

Ahmad Bin Byat
Chairman

Ziad Galadari
Board Member

Fadhel Al Ali
Board Member

Abdullah Al Shamsi
Board Member

Saeed Al Yateem
Board Member

Mohamed Al Suwaidi 
Board Member

Homaid Al Shemmari
Board Member

Hana Al Rostamani
Board Member

Masood Mahmood
Board Member
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Amer Kazim 
Chief Financial

Officer

Our management team

Our management team is dedicated to delivering 
the highest quality customer service through strong 
operational efficiency and execution of our innovative 
strategy

Hany Aly
Executive VP  

Enterprise Business

Hala Badri
Executive VP  

Brand & Communications

Saleem Al Balooshi 
Executive VP  

Network Development &  
Operations

Samir Naguib
Executive VP  

Consumer Business

Rashid El Sheikh
Executive VP  

Corporate Services

Ibrahim Nassir
Chief Human Capital 

Officer

Carlos Domingo
Senior Executive Officer 

New Business & Innovation

Farid Faraidooni
Chief Operations 

Officer

Osman Sultan
Chief Executive 

Officer

Ananda Bose
Chief Corporate  
Affairs Officer

Fahad Al Hassawi
Chief Commercial 

Officer
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Highlights 

An evolving business strategy that places our 
customers at its centre has enabled us to maintain 
robust financial fundamentals

Highlights

Financial

Operations

Human capital

Growth in total revenues Increase to AED 12.34 billion, 0.8% increase compared to  
AED 12.24 billion in 2014 

Increase in mobile data revenues Growth of 7.3% year on year to AED 2.96 billion, from AED 2.76 
billion in 2014

Rise in fixed line revenue 13.8% increase compared to 2014, to reach AED 2.55 billion

Strong EBITDA Growth of 7.7% to AED 5.42 billion from AED 5.03 billion in 2014

Growth in net profit before 
royalty

Increase of 4.3% to AED 3.86 billion compared to AED 3.70 billion  
in 2014

Net profit after royalty Slight reduction to AED 1.94 billion, from AED 2.11 billion in 2014  
due to an increase in year-on-year royalty of 20.6%

Increased dividend payment Total annual dividend payment of AED 0.43 per share for 2015

As we continue to transform 
our business for the digital 
age, our focus on quality 
has remained steadfast.

We are committed to the 
UAE government’s initiatives 

aimed at the development of a 
digitally-enabled ecosystem.

We progressed a  
number of Smart initiatives 

designed to improve the lives  
of UAE residents.

Ensuring the wellbeing 
of our people is a key focus 
for our company. 

We have implemented and 
enhanced a number of initiatives 

that benefit our people and 
contribute to the development 

of a positive work environment. 

Emirati employees represent 
58% of senior executives.
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Excellence is at the core of what 
we stand for, therefore we are 
continuously looking for ways to 
improve our business. 

Statistical summary
2011 2012 2013 2014 2015

Active customers (thousands)
Mobile 5,216 6,457 7,244 7,343 7,723 

Fixed total 531 561 599 639 674 
Telephony including Call Select 293 299 310 327 337 

Broadband 124 140 157 172 185 
TV 113 122 132 140 152 

Traffic (millions)
Total outgoing mobile minutes 8,633 9,997 11,422 12,022 11,081 
Outgoing local mobile minutes 6,217 7,446 8,448 8,639 8,248 

Outgoing international mobile minutes 2,416 2,551 2,974 3,384 2,833 
Data (Terabytes) -  9,357 16,396 34,751 57,741 

Market share 46.0% 48.7% 47.4% 46.3% 45.2%
Value share 26.8% 30.2% 30.4% 31.1% 30.0%

Average revenue per user (ARPU)*
Mobile - 103 98 96 94 

Fixed total - 177 185 195 200 
Landline - 137 124 119 121 

Call select - 122 116 120 115 
Broadband - 382 418 450 457 

TV - 65 69 72 75

*The average revenue per user (ARPU) has been restated to be calculated based on the Total Mobile Service Revenue rather 
than the Total Mobile Revenue
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Business excellence awards
•	 Awarded the H.H. Sheikh 

Mohammed Bin Rashid Al Maktoum 
Business Excellence Award (MRM 
Business Excellence Award), the 
highest level of recognition for 
business excellence in the UAE

•	 Received the Gallup Great 
Workplace 2015 Award for the 
second consecutive year 

•	 Won Best Customer Experience 
Measurement and Best Customer 
Journey Maps at the fifth annual 
Service Olympian Awards

•	 Presentation of two prestigious 
awards at the 2nd Middle East Call 
Centre Summit – Best In Class Call 
Center and Best Use of Call Center 
Technology as recognition of our 
continued commitment to delivering 
the highest quality customer service

•	 Adjudged as the Best Operator for  
TV & Media Services at the Telecom  
Review Summit 

•	 Presented with the Best Enterprise 
Service award for our Business 
Roaming Packs at the Telecoms World 
Awards 2015 

•	 Received top honours at ASBU 
BroadcastPro Selevision Awards for  
du View 

•	 Presented with the award for Best 
Cloud Infrastructure Provider for 
Datamena at Telecom Review 
Excellence Awards 2015 

•	 Won two Silver awards - Best 
Strategic/Creative Development 
of a New Brand and Best Visual 
Identity from the Technology, 
Media & Telecommunications 
Sector for Datamena at the 
2015 Transform Awards

•	 Presented with the Best in Class 
award at HP Protect 2015, HP’s 11th 
annual security user conference 

•	 Received top prize in the Innovation  
in promoting, encouraging and 
empowerment of UAE citizens 
category in recognition of our 
Fujairah call center at the 4th UAE 
Ideas Conference & Awards

•	 Awarded the Dubai Chamber 
CSR Label for the third time, in 
recognition of our commitment 
towards embedding sustainability 
within the business

•	 Awarded Tbreak’s coveted Best 
Tech Social Media Award, for 
the second consecutive year

•	 Received Legal Team of the Year  
accolade at the Middle East Legal  
Awards 2015

•	 Presented with the Gold in the 
Event/Experience of the Year 
for our annual staff gathering at 
the WOW Awards Asia 2015

Creativity accolades for du Tuesday
Our du Tuesday campaign has made  
us the most internationally awarded 
commercial brand from the UAE, and 
the Middle East.

•	 Presented with a Yellow Pencil 
(Gold) at the D&AD 2015, the most 
prestigious among advertising 
awards and marking this as the 
first top prize presented to an Arab 
company. We won seven Pencils in 
total, including one Graphite (Silver) 
and five Wooden (Bronze) Pencils

•	 Awarded several top prizes at the 
New York Festivals International 
Advertising Awards 2015 including; 
one Gold in the Film category, 

Awards and recognition

Awards and recognition

Our dedication to delivering excellence led us to win a number 
of awards during 2015 

We are proud of 
our achievements 
across the 
business.
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two Golds and one Silver in the 
Film Craft category

•	 Awarded with a Black Cube, 
two Gold and two Silver 
trophies at the Art Directors’ 
Club of New York (ADC)

•	 Presented with a Bronze in the Film 
Craft category at the Cannes Lions

•	 Won two Gold, Four Silver 
and One Bronze Award at 
the Dubai Lynx 2015

•	 Received the Merit Award at the  
One Show 2015 

Certification
•	 First company globally to earn 

the Underwriters Laboratories 
(UL) Building Indoor Air Quality 
(IAQ) Certification, assuring 
exceptional indoor air quality 
for all our office buildings.

•	 Quality Management System 
Standards ISO 9001:2008 
certification for our Regulatory 
and External Affairs team

Other mentions
•	 Featured in KPMG’s thought 

leadership report The value of 
reporting: Highlighting sustainability 
awareness in the UAE and Oman

•	 Honoured as pioneer in 
Geographic Information 
Systems at GISWORX 2015

•	 Our Security Incident Response 
Team (SIRT), responsible for 
managing cyber-attacks and 
security incidents, became a 
member of the prestigious Forum 
of Incident Response and Security 
Teams (FIRST) community
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Financial summary

Our company continues to deliver positive results, delivering 
value for shareholders

We delivered another year of solid 
performance during 2015, the company’s 
ninth consecutive year of growth. 
Given that this was achieved against a 
backdrop of uncertain market conditions, 
as well as a reduction in subscribers 
arising from the UAE Government’s  
‘My Number, My Identity’ initiative, this 
was all the more creditable. 

Mobile data has continued to underpin 
our growth as customer demand 
for connectivity remained strong. 
Meanwhile, the company’s commitment 
to supporting the UAE Government’s 
Smart Government initiative has seen us 
focus on digital integration, developing 
our infrastructure and delivering 
innovative services for our customers. 

Revenues for the year ended 31 
December 2015 were AED 12.3 billion, 
0.8% higher than in 2014 (AED 12.2 
billion). However, our continued focus 
on operational efficiencies has enabled 
the company to achieve a healthy 
level of profitability. EBITDA was 

again higher than the previous year, 
driven by continued strong customer 
demand for connectivity, further 
service improvements and competitive 
differentiation. 

The overall result was growth in EBITDA 
of 7.7% year on year to AED 5.4 billion, 
up from AED 5.0 billion in 2014. Net 
profit before royalty was AED 3.9 billion 
in 2014, a 4.3% increase on AED 3.7 
billion in 2014.

The royalty payment for 2015 was  
AED 1.9 billion, more than 20.6% higher 
than the previous year, which meant that 
net profit after royalty fell by 8.0% to  
AED 1.9 billion (2014: AED 2.1 billion).  
Our continued tight management of costs 
during the year resulted in lower operating 
expenses, which at AED 6.9 billion for 
2015 were 4.0% lower than 2014 (AED 7.2 
billion). As a percentage of total revenues, 
operating expenses represented 56.1% of 
revenue in 2015 compared with 58.9% in 
the previous year.

Financial highlights (AEDm) 

2011 2012 2013 2014 2015
Total revenue 8,539 9,842 10,799 12,238 12,337

EBITDA 2,916 3,999 4,306 5,030 5,419
EBITDA (%) 34.2% 40.6% 39.9% 41.1% 43.9%

Net profit before royalty 1,812 2,823 3,014 3,702 3,862
Net profit after royalty 1,098 1,980 1,986 2,109 1,941

Free Cash Flow 1,377 1,748 2,329 2,188 2,267
Earnings per share (AED) 0.24 0.43 0.43 0.46 0.42

Note: 2013-2014 EBITDA shown in accordance with new definition
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Growth in profitability and 
value share was driven by 
innovative enhancements to 
our core services. 

Total revenue (AEDm)

Gross revenue

EPS (AED)

0.24

0.43 0.43 0.46
0.42

12,337

2015

Net profit before royalty (AEDm) Net profit after royalty (AEDm)

Net profit margin (%)

Net profit before royalty (AEDm)

Net profit margin (%)

Net profit after royalty (AEDm)

3,862 1,941
2,109

1,9861,980

1,098

2015 2015

31.3% 15.7%
17.2%

18.4%20.1%

12.4%
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EBITDA (AEDm)

Yearly EBITDA margin (%) Yearly EBITDA (AEDm)

2015

34.2% 
2,916 

40.6% 
3,999

39.9% 
4,306 

41.1% 
5,030 

43.9%
5,419

EBITDA grew driven by customer 
demand for connectivity, service 
improvements and competitive 
differentiation. 
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Mobile
Our mobile business remained robust despite the impact felt by the  
‘My Number, My Identity’ initiative. This programme led to a reduction in 
subscribers throughout the year, resulting in a slight shrinkage of revenues  
of 2.4%, from AED 9.2 billion in 2014 to AED 8.9 billion. 

Our awareness of increasing data consumption means that we continue to 
ensure provision of affordable and value-led packages based for all of our 
customers. As a result, mobile data revenues increased by 7.3% year on year 
in 2015 to reach AED 2.96 billion, from AED 2.76 billion in 2014. 

Mobile ARPU
Mobile ARPU for the year was AED 94 compared with AED 96 in 2014. In line 
with global industry figures, we continue to see consumers opt to spend 
more on data and less on voice packages. This trend has resulted in a minor 
fluctuations in ARPU level and it is something we are addressing. We remain 
focused on increasing data revenue and our proportion of higher value post-
paid customers so that we may maximise the ARPU figure to add value for our 
shareholders.

Mobile ARPU (AED)

2015

94

2014

96
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Mobile data
Customer demand for mobile data continued to grow. As a result, mobile data 
revenue increased by 7.3% in 2015 to AED 3.0 billion, compared with AED 2.8 
billion the previous year. In 2015, data represented 32.3% of mobile revenues, 
up from 29.8% in 2014. As demand for data continues to grow, we are seeking 
more sophisticated ways of maximising our ability to deliver innovative data 
solutions. As such, throughout 2015, we continued to ensure our customers 
were provided with a diverse range of products to enable them to stream the 
significant level of content that is now widely available. 

Mobile data

Mobile data revenue (AEDm)

2015

32.3%
2,961

2014

29.8%
2,759

Data revenue as a percentage of revenue (%)

Data revenue (AEDm)

2014 2015 Change %

Data revenue (AEDm) 2,759 2,961 7.3%

Data revenue as a percentage of revenue (%) 29.8% 32.3% 256 basis points
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Wholesale
Our wholesale revenues, which cover International Voice termination (to UAE) and 
International Hubbing (transit), decreased slightly, by 3.6% from AED 655.2 million 
in 2014 to AED 631.7 million in 2015.

Broadcasting
Broadcasting revenues, generated primarily by our upload/download and other 
value added service capabilities, was marginally lower in 2015, at AED 160.6 million, 
1.0% less than AED 162.2 million in 2014.

Fixed line
Our fixed line business generated AED 2.6 billion in revenues in 2015, a 13.8% 
increase on 2014, up from AED 2.2 billion. This uptick was primarily driven 
by a continuing increase population size, combined with an increase in calling 
card revenues.

Broadband TV

Telephony Call Select

295

185
152

42

Our experienced management 
team have responded quickly 
to a fast-moving environment, 
enabling us to meet the challenges 
we face. 

Fixed line subscribers for 2015 (thousands)
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Capital expenditure
Capital expenditure was AED 1.7 billion, at similar levels to the previous year,  
as we continued to invest in our network infrastructure.

Breakdown of CapEx for 2014-2015

CapEx breakdown for 2015 spend by segment

Mobile

IT

Others

Broadcasting

5.4%

AEDm ٢٠١4 ٢٠١5

Mobile 761 805

Fixed 530 506

IT 264 231

Broadcasting 30 69

Others 74 92

47.3% 29.7% 13.6% 4.0%

Capital expenditures (AEDm)

2015

13.8%
1,703

CapEx (%)

CapEx (AEDm)

Fixed
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Cash and debt overview
Free cash flow increased by 3.7% to AED 2.3 billion from AED 2.2 billion in 2014, despite 
the impact of increased royalty.

Our cash position remains 
strong, despite the impact of 
increased royalty. 

2,267

4,238

(1,970)

2015

Net cash operations (AEDm)

Net cash investments (AEDm)

Free cash flow (AEDm)

Net cash investments (AEDm)
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We continued to make progress on our 
strategy in 2015, despite a backdrop 
of challenging market conditions. Our 
strategic priorities, including mobile data, 
innovative offerings, complete enterprise 
services and new growth engines, were 
successfully executed, strengthening our 
growth position. 

To further enhance our service and 
network differentiation, significant efforts 
and investments were made towards 
providing a seamless and segmented 
customer experience, supported by a 
continued emphasis on data network 
experience in 2015. Overall, we have 
continued with sustained investments in 
our capabilities to build a state-of-the-art 
and optimised technology infrastructure. 

As part of our ambition to transform 
into a leading digital operator and a 
total solution provider, we continued to 
invest for growth. Over the past twelve 
months, we have accelerated our efforts 
and investments to establish digital 
innovation capabilities in the areas of 
integrated ICT play, internet TV and 
digital services, and we continued to build 
upon our successful Wifi UAE initiative 

Strategic guidelines 

Our strategy is focused on rewarding our shareholders 
by building sustained competitiveness, providing superior 
customer experience and offering new services

which aims to create the foundations for a 
Smart City. 

Turning to 2016, in light of the ongoing 
challenging macro environment and 
competitive market, our focus will be 
to build growth engines and further 
optimise our cost structures, establish 
wider coverage for our fixed services and 
differentiate on customer experience to 
drive sustainable growth. We will also 
continue to develop new services to 
strengthen and supplement our core 
business, to ensure we continue to deliver 
strong value for our customers and 
shareholders. 

The key strategic focus areas of our 
company in 2016 will be to:
•	 Protect our solid position in mobile 

business
•	 Build and enhance capabilities for 

nationwide fixed business
•	 Continue to invest in business enablers 

and assets 
•	 Build efficiencies in the core business to 

cope with challenges
•	 Fuel new businesses, to create value 

beyond core

In 2015, our strategic focus was 
to deliver enhanced customer 
experience, better products, and 
more cost-efficient operations. 
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2015 Strategy map

•	End-to-end customer service delivery
•	State-of-the-art and optimised technology infrastructure 

Operations / Processes > Simplified and cost-efficient operations

•	 Customer Service Delivery Index
•	 Technology Quality Index

•	Focus on value and data driven growth
•	Maximise cash flows

Financial > Continue to create shareholder value
•	Service revenue
•	Mobile data % of mobile revenue
•	Enterprise revenue YoY growth
•	EBITDA
•	Free cash flow

•	To enhance your life – anytime, anywhere

Vision

KPIs

•	Sustain employee engagement
•	Focus on quality driven Emiratisation

•	 Employee engagement score
•	 Emiratisation index

Growth & Learning > Create a high performing organisation

•	Offer innovative products and services and improved digital engagement
•	Provide segmented and simplified customer experience

•	 Net Promoters’ Score
•	 Brand Health Index

Customer > Innovate and provide seamless customer experience 

Efficiency Competitive differentiationLong term growth

Full enterprise service offering and enhanced  
managed services 

Innovative mobile data offerings and excellent  
network experience

State of the art & optimised technology infrastructureBuild efficiencies in the core business

Fuel new services’ growth in ICT and digital  
service areas

Simplified, consistent and segmented customer 
experience 

2016 key focus areas
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Operational highlights 

2015 marked the beginning of a phase 
of transformation for our company. 
True to our focus on enhancing the 
lives of our customers, we worked 
tirelessly to discover new ways of 
improving efficiency and effectiveness. 

As the telecommunications industry 
continues to evolve, we recognise the 
need to change with it. As a result, 
we are becoming a more agile and 
responsive business, one that can 
adapt to a fast changing operating 
environment.

Because excellence is at the very 
core of what we stand for, we are 
continuously looking for ways 
to improve our business, while 
making sure every touch point for 
our customers is the best possible 
experience. 

In keeping with this philosophy, 
last year we activated our Emtyaz 
operational excellence program. 
This initiative involved a 360 degree 
review of our operations. By focusing 
on people and processes, we 
challenged our existing operating 
and sourcing models, analysed our 
vendor contracts and re-engaged 
with our core competencies. The 
result speaks for itself: greater clarity 
across the entire operations function. 
We have emerged a far stronger unit, 
a more straight-forward and nimble 
operator in the way we engage with 
our vendors, business partners and 
suppliers.

The success of Emtyaz is not an 
overnight story and its impact will 
evolve alongside the company. We 
have now built a foundation and 
created a platform from which we can 
grow. We have a base that allows us 
to respond quickly to the changing 
telecommunications landscape, and to 
bring only the best, most innovative 
products to the market, and faster. 

We have prepared our business for 
the challenges that the near term 
future may hold. At every point along 
on this journey, our customers remain 
front of mind. Improving customer 
experience, increasing the speed in 
which we release new products, and 
our strong commitment to efficiency 
is what continues to set us apart from 
our competitors. 

Complementing our Emtyaz initiative, 
we embarked on another major 
initiative during 2015 in the form of 
Tamkeen. This change program, true 
to its translation, enables the quality 
of our customer service experience by 
increasing speed at all touch points, 
including shops and call centres. We 
endeavour to improve self-service, 
simplify the shopping experience and 
streamline our product catalogue 
and product life cycle management. 
By doing this, we can lower the time 
it takes to bring new products and 
services to market. We expect the real 
impact of Tamkeen to be felt towards 
the end of 2016 and beyond.

We are becoming a more agile and responsive business, 
one that can adapt to a fast changing operating 
environment
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Implementing strategy change can 
be difficult. Behavioural change 
even more so. So we are extremely 
proud of how we as a company have 
responded to Emtyaz and Tamkeen. 
Both programmes underscore our 
focus on having better control over the 
entire customer experience.

To match our customers’ desire for 
simple, flexible, reliable and value-
for-money products, we continued 
to focus on truly innovative solutions 
during 2015. In an increasingly 
connected, data driven era, 
our products and services remain 
second to none, delivering the right 
mix of products and services to 
the market, building a high value 
subscriber base, and ensuring an even 
better customer experience.

We strived to provide flexibility and 
value through unique and intelligent 
products, deals and packages across 
both our Consumer and Enterprise 
divisions.

These wide ranging enhancements 
were delivered with one clear ambition 
in mind: to ensure that we are fully 
equipped and ready to provide 
customers – whether an individual, 
small business or a large multinational 
– with exactly what they want from 
a world class, integrated, next 
generation ICT provider.

This customer-focused approach 
proved to be successful. Mobile 
customer numbers grew by 380,000 
in 2015, bringing the total subscribers 
to 7.72 million. Further proof of our 

True to our focus on 
enhancing the lives 
of our customers, we 
worked tirelessly to 
discover new ways of 
improving efficiency 
and effectiveness.
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success came in the shape of the 
numerous nominations and awards 
we received in 2015.

Accelerating the growth of our 
Enterprise division was a key focus 
for us during 2015. Enterprise 
propositions were simplified and 
improved in terms of the overall 
customer experience. The ‘one stop 
shop solution’ for SMEs proved that 
value and product differentiation are 
core business enablers. Some of the 
highlights of the year included the 
launch of new Business Mobile Plans 
and Business Connect, a one-stop 
approach for telecommunication 
needs. 

The importance of the Enterprise 
segment continues to grow. Our 
dedicated managed services team 
understands the needs of business, 
ensuring that we look after these 
companies in the right way, and at 
every stage of their development. 
Our Khazna data centre investment is 
delivering both internal and external 
efficiencies. By migrating more of 
our own infrastructure into the data 
centre, we have improved our data 
centre capabilities for our Enterprise 
customers. This has enhanced our 
reputation as a fast, reliable, and 
secure provider of connectivity.

During the year, we continued to foster 
growth in our higher value, post-paid 
customer base. Key initiatives that 
strengthened our reputation as the 
UAE’s telecoms provider of choice 
included new Emirati post-paid plans, 
iPhone 6S and device bundled offers, 
and the launch of data contract plans 
representing the best in market offers 
for post-paid customers.

Our pre-paid subscribers benefitted 
in 2015 from enriched voice and data 
offers encompassing affordable rates 

and customised bundles, ensuring 
only the best value for money. The 
launch of ‘Easy Social and Extra 
Social, a combined prepaid voice/data 
bundle based plans, underlined our 
commitment to simplified tariffs and 
individually tailored propositions. 

In this increasingly data-driven world, 
delivering a range of broadband 
solutions for our subscribers is 
crucial for a company such as ours. 
In 2015, we enhanced our Broadband 
portfolio with high speed offerings. 
We launched the fastest consumer 
internet service in the UAE last year, 
while also enriching our quad-play 
offers with new TV packages. 

2015 was also a standout year 
for Datamena, our carrier-neutral 
international transit and content hub. 
During the year the platform became 
the content hub of the region with six 
of the largest regional and global video 
streaming companies distributing 
content from Datamena. Not only 
has revenue growth from Datamena 
proved significant, but the success 
has also confirmed our reputation as 
an accelerator for digital businesses in 
the UAE and wider Gulf region.

During the year, we successfully 
fulfilled our TRA regulatory mandate 
as part of the ‘My Number, My Identity 
Campaign’, designed to ensure our 
customers’ privacy is protected. As 
expected, this resulted in natural churn 
of unused numbers.

Looking ahead, we remain deeply 
committed to the UAE’s Smart 
Government initiatives, and our 
partnership with the TRA’s FEDNet 
programme is testament to our 
ongoing support for the government 
in its push to strengthen the UAE’s 
position as a global leader. 

To match our 
customers’ desire 
for simple, flexible 
and value-for-money 
products, we continued 
to focus on truly 
innovative solutions 
during 2015.
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Partnerships are also cornerstone 
of our business philosophy. During 
2015 we continued to work with a wide 
range of organisations, charities and 
businesses, with the sole purpose of 
growing the UAE’s economy. 

Our employees remain this company’s 
greatest assets. With their persistent 
hard work and commitment, we 
have been able to shape a brand that 
grows stronger with every year. We 
are proud to remain an employer of 
choice. 

These efforts have been widely 
recognised, especially in the area of 
customer experience. During the year 
we were awarded the 2015 Service 
Olympian Award for Customer 
Experience Measurement, while 
our Business Roaming packs were 
judged the Best Enterprise Service 
by Telecom World. We also received 
a Broadcast Pro Middle East 2015 

Award for Best Telco/Broadcast 
initiative for our du View multiscreen 
service. 

We recognise that the telecommunica-
tions industry is changing, and rapidly, 
but through collective hard work we 
have established a strong foundation 
that gives us much confidence for the 
future. 

We have made enhancements, grown 
our capabilities, and become more 
effective across the entire business. Our 
focus on providing award winning and 
innovative products, deals and services, 
complemented by best-in-class telecoms 
infrastructure, remains steadfast. 

Enhancing customer experience will 
always be a strategic priority for us, it 
is part of our DNA and it is what makes 
us the region’s leading integrated ICT 
provider. 

Operational highlights 
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Corporate governance 

We retained our commitment to combine responsible 
business practices with the highest standards of 
corporate governance

Our commitment to 
delivering best practice 
means we have gone 
beyond the limits of 
standard compliance.

Since our company began operating in 
2007, our philosophy has been focused 
on building and facilitating a sustainable 
business model built on integrity, 
accountability and a strong code of 
ethics. By continually evolving our 
governance policies, we have been able 
to ensure greater transparency across 
the business, from Board-level decision 
making to how our people operate day 
to day. As a result, we are honoured to 
have earned the reputation of the Middle 
East’s leading example of best practice in 
governance.

We continue to adhere to international 
best practice guidelines and both the 
Securities and Commodities Authority 
(SCA) and Dubai Financial Market (DFM) 
principles and procedures, and our 
shareholders are kept informed of all 
developments.

We held two strategy retreats during 
2015, allowing our Board and senior 
management time to collectively 
agree the best route towards building 
a sustainable business that is able to 
endure challenging market conditions 
and yet be agile enough to take 
advantage of the opportunity the digital 
era presents.

As one of the few firms in the Middle 
East to compile dedicated corporate 
governance and sustainability reports, 
we have worked hard to ensure the 
content is relevant, timely and compliant. 
We continue to implement highly 
sophisticated risk and whistleblowing 
policies in our efforts to remain a 

market-leader in the field of transparency 
and accountability. As a result of 
this commitment, we continue to 
be recognised and awarded for our 
efforts in this area both regionally and 
internationally.

During a period of transformation, it 
is vital that the entire company works 
towards the same set of ambitions 
and goals. Therefore, we are proud to 
have the support of all our people and 
suppliers in maintaining our governance 
standards. 

We have a track record of adopting, 
embedding and sustaining risk 
management as a core competency 
throughout the organisation as we 
recognise its ability to enhance the 
performance of key activities and our 
ability to manage uncertainty. It is this 
ability that enables us to build a business 
model that is sustainable, robust and 
delivers maximum shareholder value. 

Shareholder information
•	 The UAE Government, through its 

ownership of EIA, indirectly owns 
39.5% of the existing shares

•	 The Abu Dhabi Government, through 
its ownership of Mubadala, indirectly 
owns 19.75% of the existing shares

•	 Dubai Holding, through its ownership 
of EIT, indirectly owns 19.5% of the 
existing shares

•	 The remainder of the shares are held 
by public shareholders, comprising 
individuals who are UAE and non-UAE 
nationals and companies majority 
owned by a UAE entity.

Corporate governance 



Annual report 2015

33



Annual report 2015

34

Sustainability and community engagement

We are continuously looking for ways to promote innovation 
and responsibility across every aspect of our business as 
part of our ambition to be a sustainable business

We implemented 
a number of 
initiatives to 
contribute to the 
community around 
us, promote 
greater efficiency 
and encourage 
innovation.

In 2015, we continued to build upon 
our solid business foundations and 
implemented a number of initiatives to 
contribute to the community around 
us, promote greater efficiency and 
encourage innovation, which were 
recognised in the form of the Dubai 
Chamber CSR Label award.

We were also appointed a steering 
committee member for the UAE 
chapter of the United Nations Global 
Compact (UNGC), the world’s largest 
corporate sustainability initiative. 
We aim to promote collaboration 
across sustainability initiatives, and 
encourage suppliers and enterprise to 
become UNGC members and adopt its 
principles. 

Our people
Our volunteering programme continued 
to grow with over 1,200 volunteers 
contributing a total of 5,563 hours of 
community and employee engagement 
over the course of the year. For the first 
time, we also introduced a volunteering 
related question in our Gallup employee 
engagement survey, with positive results. 

In continuation of our support to drive 
forward the UAE’s knowledge-based 
economy, we launched du University 
earlier this year, offering courses 
in leadership and management to 
all staff members. This in line with 
our commitment to support lifelong 
learning inculcating a culture of 
customer-centric service and personal 
development.

In line with our commitment towards 
promoting a transparent and fair culture 
across the business, we appointed an 
independent consultant to manage our 
whistle blowing process in 2015. This 
appointment ensures the highest level 
of corporate governance across our 
organisation, in line with international 
best practice, and means that employees 
can now confidentially and confidently 
share any governance concerns.

Our customers
In 2015 we continued to innovate and 
simplify our products and services to 
meet the needs of our customer base. 

This included the development and launch 
of new plans, such as our Tourist Plan, a 
tailored prepaid line for tourists visiting 
the UAE for short periods of time. To 
engage our large Filipino customer base, 
we launched our ‘Kabayan Bundle’, with 
exclusive data and voice deals allowing 
them to stay connected with friends and 
family both in the UAE and back home. 

To ensure an even better customer 
experience and to increase efficiency, 
we launched our ‘Appointment Booking’ 
service in late 2015, allowing customers to 
book an appointment at any of our retail 
stores through our existing du app. The 
service shares a location map as well as 
reminders via SMS, and ensures a smooth 
and efficient process in our stores. 

Our du Live! and du Tuesday 
platforms continued to deliver quality 
entertainment, through events 

Sustainability and community engagement



Annual report 2015

35Sustainability and community engagement

such as the Dubai Music Week and 
exclusive film screenings. Further, our 
du Tuesday advertising campaign 
continued to win prestigious accolades 
around the world, establishing us 
as the most internationally awarded 
brand from the MENA region. 

Our environment
Taking our commitment to e-billing one 
step further, all of our customers were 
set to receive e-bills by default in 2015. 
Over the course of the year, our paper 
consumption for bills was reduced by 
more than 16% through our efforts. 

We also completed a project, initiated 
in 2014, to redesign our SIM card 
packaging to ensure it is more 
sustainable – environmentally and 
financially. All of our SIM card packs 
will now be produced in the changed 
design, which incorporates a uniform 
size, security stickers instead of plastic 
wrap, and minimised user guide text 
printed on responsible paper. 

Our generators, free cooling systems 
and five solar powered sites helped 
us save more than 9M litres of 
diesel in 2015, which is equivalent to 
reducing our carbon emissions by 

23,250 tonnes. We are proud to be 
playing a part in supporting the UAE 
Government’s Vision 2021 commitment 
to have a 24% clean energy mix and 
the National Energy Strategy’s aim 
for a 15% reduction in carbon dioxide 
emissions by 2021. 

We are also very proud to be the 
only company in the world to have 
earned the prestigious Underwriters 
Laboratories Indoor Air Quality 
Certification for our office buildings in 
2015, which reflects our commitment 
towards promoting a healthy 
environment and striving to ensure 
better working conditions for all of our 
employees. 

Our community 
Our Ramadan campaign, ‘Mawaed Al 
Rahman’, was our largest volunteering 
initiative in 2015, engaging nearly 1,000 
volunteers to distribute over 20,000 
boxes of essential Ramadan food 
items to needy families across Dubai 
and the Northern Emirates. UAE’s 
residents contributed over 3,100 hours 
towards this initiative which was aimed 
at nurturing a sustainable society and 
fostering a sense of community across 
the country.
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During the year we also joined hands 
with Flagship Projects to promote 
the BabNoor app, the UAE’s first 
Arabic cloud-based application to 
aid communication for children with 
autism and other hearing and speech 
disabilities. The BabNoor app is 
intended to revolutionise the way 
these children communicate, and is 
also part of our continued drive to 
promote smart initiatives across the 
UAE and in line with the Government’s 
vision to promote an inclusive society 
by 2020. Our commitment extends 
to the provision of tablets, equipped 
with this app, to various autism 
centers across the country. In 2015, 
we allocated 100 tablets to the Dubai 
Autism Center and moving forward, a 
further 290 tablets will be distributed 
to children in two more autism 
centres in the UAE. 

To encourage and promote 
entrepreneurship among students 
across the country, we launched 

the ‘Agent 055 Network’, providing 
an opportunity for both UAE and 
expat students to experience what 
it is like to run a business. Following 
a competitive selection process, 
9 students were selected to take 
part in the programme, trained by 
our experts in entrepreneurship, 
marketing and sales, and then offered 
first-hand experience in running their 
own business selling our popular 
products.

We continued to promote health and 
wellness, as well as nurture young 
talent, such as through the launch 
of our football championship, du FC, 
in partnership with La Liga in 2015. 
The tournament aims to give young 
talented players in the UAE the 
opportunity to kick-start a professional 
football career on an international and 
national level, and is open to all schools 
across the country. We received 
11,000 entries for the programme, 
demonstrating its popularity, and the 
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winning team will train with La Liga 
and play in competitive matches with 
Spain’s best youth football clubs, 
accompanied by former Real Madrid 
legend Michel Salgado, who is serving 
as du FC Director.

We also engaged with the UAE’s 
expatriate worker community through 
the sponsorship of ‘Camp Ka-
Champ’ – the country’s largest and 
most popular singing competition. 
In 2015, the competition saw an 
overwhelming 4,500 participants, who 
were narrowed down to 48 semi-
finalists and 2 final winners. Alongside 
overall support, we also sponsored 
a separate category - ‘Singer of the 
Season’, just to reward the best singer 
in the competition.

We finished the year with a very 
interactive National Day campaign, 
‘UAE is Home’, which highlighted the 
unity and harmony between the UAE’s 
diverse communities, and promoted 

knowledge and understanding of UAE 
heritage and culture. The campaign 
involved setting up blue doors at 
prominent UAE locations, such as 
malls, parks and Global Village, which 
when visitors opened, greeted them 
with interactive screens with engaging 
audio-visual engaging culture-based 
activities. This initiative enabled 
citizens and residents alike to celebrate 
the UAE’s traditions and culture in a 
contemporary format. 

After a successful and fulfilling year, 
in 2016 we will continue to look at 
ways we can support and encourage 
education and drive Dubai’s 
development into a sustainable and 
smart city.

For further details about our 
activities and initiatives to promote 
sustainability, please see our 2015 
sustainability report:  
du.ae/about-us/sustainability-report/
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Independent auditors’ report

Consolidated financial statements 

The Shareholders 
Emirates Integrated 
Telecommunications Company PJSC 

Report on the consolidated 
financial statements
We have audited the accompanying 
consolidated financial statements 
of Emirates Integrated 
Telecommunications Company PJSC 
(the Company) and its subsidiaries 
(together “the Group”), which 
comprise the consolidated statement 
of financial position as at 31 December 
2015 and the consolidated statements 
of comprehensive income, changes 
in equity and cash flows for the 
year then ended, and a summary of 
significant accounting policies and 
other explanatory notes.

Management’s responsibility for the 
consolidated financial statements
Management is responsible for the 
preparation and fair presentation 
of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting 
Standards and their preparation 
in compliance with the applicable 
provisions of the UAE Federal Law 
No. (2) of 2015 and for such internal 
control as management determines is 
necessary to enable the preparation of 
consolidated financial statements that 
are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an 
opinion on these consolidated financial 
statements based on our audit. We 
conducted our audit in accordance 
with International Standards on 
Auditing. Those standards require that 
we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to 
obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial 
statements are free from material 
misstatement.

An audit involves performing 
procedures to obtain audit evidence 
about the amounts and disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements. 
The procedures selected depend on 
the auditor’s judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material 
misstatement of the consolidated 
financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error. In making those 
risk assessments, the auditor 
considers internal control relevant 
to the entity’s preparation and fair 
presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements in order to design 
audit procedures that are appropriate 
in the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the entity’s 
internal control. An audit also includes 
evaluating the appropriateness 
of accounting policies used and 
the reasonableness of accounting 

Consolidated financial statements
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estimates made by management, 
as well as evaluating the overall 
presentation of the consolidated 
financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our 
audit opinion.

Opinion 
In our opinion, the consolidated 
financial statements present fairly, 
in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Group as at  
31 December 2015 and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for 
the year then ended in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards.

Report on other legal and 
regulatory requirements
Further, as required by the UAE 
Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report 
that:

(i)	 we have obtained all the 
information we considered 
necessary for the purposes of our 
audit;

(ii)	 the consolidated financial 
statements have been prepared 
and comply, in all material 
respects, with the applicable 
provisions of the UAE Federal Law 
No. (2) of 2015;

(iii)	 the Group has maintained proper 
books of accounts;

(iv)	the financial information included 
in the Chairman’s message and 
Chief Executive Officer’s review 
is consistent with the books of 
account of the Group;

(v)	 the Group has not purchased or 
invested in any shares during the 
financial year ended 31 December 
2015;

(vi)	Note 11 to the consolidated 
financial statements discloses 
material related party transactions 
and the terms under which they 
were conducted;

(vii)	based on the information that 
has been made available to us, 
nothing has come to our attention 
which causes us to believe that the 
Group has contravened during the 
year ended 31 December 2015 any 
of the applicable provisions of the 
UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015 
or in respect of the Company, 
its Articles of Association which 
would materially affect its 
activities or its financial position as 
at 31 December 2015; and

(viii)	Note 21 to the consolidated 
financial statements discloses the 
social contributions made during 
the financial year ended  
31 December 2015.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
29 February 2016

Paul Suddaby
Registered Auditor Number 309
Dubai, United Arab Emirates
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The consolidated financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors  
on 29 February 2016 and signed on its behalf by:

		
Ahmad Bin Byat	 Osman Sultan
Chairman	 Chief Executive Officer 

Consolidated statement of financial position

As at 31 December

Note
2015

AED 000
2014

AED 000
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment
Intangible assets

Investment in an associate
Derivative financial instrument

6
7
8
9

8,333,480
1,200,961

110,867
3,033

8,202,372
1,208,949

107,890 
-

Total non-current assets 9,648,341 9,519,211

Current assets
Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Due from related parties
Short term investments

Cash and bank balances 

10
11
12
13

83,237
1,448,359

397,145
6,200,000

163,288

150,183
1,709,493

466,475
5,840,000

192,737

Total current assets 8,292,029 8,358,888

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables

Due to related parties
Borrowings

14
11
15

5,326,980
28,071

133,669

5,330,087
-

574,462

Total current liabilities 5,488,720 5,904,549

Net current assets 2,803,309 2,454,339

Non-current liabilities
Borrowings

Provision for employees’ end of service 
benefits

Other provisions

15
16
17

4,357,789
186,887

88,318 

3,856,136
165,396
113,279 

Total non-current liabilities 4,632,994 4,134,811

Net assets 7,818,656 7,838,739

Represented by:
Share capital and reserves

Share capital
Share premium
Other reserves

Retained earnings 

18
19
20

4,571,429
393,504

1,987,804
865,919

4,571,429
393,504

1,792,982
1,080,824

Total equity 7,818,656 7,838,739

The notes on pages 4٤-8٤ form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

For the year ended 31 December

Note
2015

AED 000
2014

AED 000

Revenue
Interconnect costs

Staff costs
Network operation and maintenance

Product costs
Outsourcing and contracting

Commission
Telecommunication license and related fees

Marketing 
Rent and utilities
Other expenses

Other income

30

21

12,337,048
(2,845,095)

(908,466)
(753,792)
(569,286)
(496,575)
(269,041)
(338,596)
(359,391)

(106,828)
(274,136)

3,329

12,238,365
(3,130,727)
(903,690)
(746,829)
(637,275)
(470,314)
(362,079)
(311,606)
(296,993)
(83,665)

(270,940)
6,160

Earnings before interest, tax, depreciation 
and amortisation (EBITDA)

Depreciation
Amortisation of intangible assets

6
7

5,419,171
(1,384,161)

(172,695)

5,030,407
(1,162,403)

(152,049)

Operating profit 3,862,315 3,715,955

Finance income
Finance expense

Share of profit / (loss) of investment in an 
associate accounted for using equity method

23
23

8

112,821
(116,202)

2,977

93,095
(106,539)

(968)

Profit before royalty 3,861,911 3,701,543

Royalty 24 (1,920,558) (1,592,194)

Profit for the year 1,941,353 2,109,349

Other comprehensive income

Items that may be re-classified  
subsequently to profit or loss

Fair value changes on cash flow hedge 9 3,033 -
Items that will not be re-classified  

to profit or loss
Actuarial gain on defined benefit obligations 16 1,246 -

Other comprehensive income for the year 4,279 -

Total comprehensive income for the year 
attributable entirely to shareholders  

of the Company
1,945,632 2,109,349

Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED) 25 0.42 0.46

The notes on pages 4٤-8٤ form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of cash flows

Non-cash transaction
Settlement of old facilities (term loans) appearing as borrowings and the acquisition of new facilities is 
a non-cash transaction. Details are provided in Note 15.

For the year ended 31 December

Note
2015

AED 000
2014

AED 000
Cash flows from operating activities

Profit before royalty
Adjustments for:

Depreciation
Amoritsation of intangible assets

Provision for employees’ end of service benefits
Provision for impairment of trade receivables

Finance income
Interest expense

Equity-settled share based payment transactions
Unwinding of discount on asset retirement obligations

Share of (profit)/loss of investment in an associate
Changes in working capital

16
10
23
23
20
17
8

26

3,861,911

1,384,161
172,695
30,058
88,283

(112,821)
115,019

-
4,207

(2,977)
103,150

3,701,543

1,162,403
152,049

42,943
75,089

(93,095)
105,089

2,855
3,697

968
(210,394)

Cash generated from operations
Royalty paid 24

5,643,686
(1,562,257)

4,943,147
(1,072,973)

Net cash generated from operating activities 4,081,429 3,870,174

Cash flows used in investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment

Purchase of intangible assets
Payment for additional investment in an associate

Interest received
Margin on guarantees released
Short term investments placed

Short term investments released

13

(1,631,206)
(138,687)

(73,631)
79,829
3,885

(4,435,000)
4,075,000

(1,485,489)
(153,701)
(26,741)

71,755
3,269

(5,840,000)
4,485,000

Net cash used in investing activities (2,119,810) (2,945,907)

Cash flows used in financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings
Repayment of borrowings

Decrease/(increase) in balance due from founding shareholders
Interest paid

Dividends paid 20

282,056
(221,196)

38,900
(121,228)

(1,965,715)

3,337,732
(2,882,584)

(57,883)
(102,167)

(1,417,142)

Net cash used in financing activities (1,987,183) (1,122,044)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January

(25,564)
180,700

(197,777)
378,477

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 13 155,136 180,700

Consolidated financial statements

The notes on pages 4٤-8٤ form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated statement of changes in equity 

(1)	An interim cash dividend of AED 0.13 per share (2014: AED 0.12 per share) amounted to  
AED 594,286 thousand (2014: AED 548,571 thousand) was paid during the year.

(2)	A special cash dividend of AED 0.10 per share (2014: Nil) amounted to AED 457,143 thousand was 
paid during the year.

(3)	A final cash dividend of AED 0.20 per share (2014: AED 0.20 per share) amounting to AED 914,286 
thousand (2014: AED 914,286 thousand) is proposed.

Share 
capital  

(Note 18) 
AED 000 

Share 
premium  
(Note 19) 
AED 000

Other 
reserves  

(Note 20) 
AED 000

Retained 
earnings 

AED 000
Total  

AED 000
At 1 January 2014
Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

4,571,429
-
-

393,504
-
-

1,626,373
-
-

552,371
2,109,349

-

7,143,677
2,109,349

-

Total 4,571,429 393,504 1,626,373 2,661,720 9,253,026

Transfer to share based payment reserve 
Transfer to statutory reserve
Transfer to retained earnings

Interim cash dividend(1)

Final cash dividend proposed(3)

Cash dividends paid

-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

2,855
210,935

(92,896)
548,571
914,286

(1,417,142)

-
(210,935)

92,896
(548,571)
(914,286)

-

2,855
-
-
-
-

(1,417,142)

Total transactions with shareholders 
recognised directly in equity

 
- - 166,609 (1,580,896) (1,414,287)

At 31 December 2014 4,571,429 393,504 1,792,982 1,080,824 7,838,739

Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income

-
-

-
-

-
3,033

1,941,353
1,246

1,941,353
4,279

Total 4,571,429 393,504 1,796,015 3,023,423 9,784,371

Transfer to statutory reserve 
Transfer to retained earnings

Interim cash dividend(1)

Special cash dividend(2)

Final cash dividend proposed(3)

Cash dividends paid

-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-

194,135
(2,346)

594,286
457,143

914,286
(1,965,715)

(194,135)
2,346

(594,286)
(457,143)

(914,286)
-

-
-
-
-
-

(1,965,715)

Total transactions with shareholders 
recognised directly in equity

 
- - 191,789 (2,157,504) (1,965,715)

At 31 December 2015 4,571,429 393,504 1,987,804 865,919 7,818,656

The notes on pages 4٤-8٤ form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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1. General information
Emirates Integrated Telecommunications 
Company PJSC (“the Company”) 
is a public joint stock company with 
limited liability. The Company was 
incorporated according to Ministerial 
Resolution No. 479 of 2005 issued on 
28 December 2005. The Company is 
registered in the commercial register 
under No. 77967. The principal 
address of the Company is P.O Box 
502666 Dubai, United Arab Emirates 
(UAE). These consolidated financial 
statements for the year ended 31 
December 2015 include the financial 
statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (together “the Group”).

The Company’s principal objective is 
to provide fixed, mobile, wholesale, 

broadcasting and associated 
telecommunication services in  
the UAE. 

UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 
(“Companies Law”) which is applicable 
to the Group has come into effect on 
1 July 2015. The Group is currently 
assessing and evaluating the relevant 
provisions of the Companies Law. It 
has twelve months from the effective 
date of the Companies Law to fully 
comply with the Companies Law 
under the transitional provisions set 
out therein.

The Company has either directly or 
indirectly the following subsidiaries:

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2015

Consolidated financial statements

Subsidiaries Principal activities Shareholding
Country of 

incorporation
2015 2014

EITC Investment 
Holdings Limited

Holding investments 
in new business i.e 
content, media, data and 
value added services for 
telecommunications

100% 100% UAE

Telco Operations 
FZ-LLC

Telecommunication and 
network

100% 100% UAE

2. Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements 
have been prepared in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and IFRS 
Interpretations Committee (IFRIC) 
applicable to companies reporting 
under IFRS. These consolidated 
financial statements have been 
prepared under the historical cost 
convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of derivative financial 
instrument.

The preparation of consolidated 
financial statements in conformity 
with IFRS requires the use of certain 
critical accounting estimates. It also 

requires management to exercise its 
judgement in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies. The 
areas involving a higher degree of 
judgement or complexity, or areas 
where assumptions and estimates are 
significant to the consolidated financial 
statements are disclosed in Note 2.3.

2.1 New standards, amendments and 
interpretations
(a) Amendment and interpretations 
issued and effective but have no 
material impact to the Group’s 
financial statements
•	 IAS 19,’Employee benefits’, 

regarding defined benefit plans 
(amendment) (effective annual 
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periods on or after 1 July 2014 
although endorsed for annual 
periods on or after 1 February 
2015); and

•	 IFRIC 21, ‘Levies’ (effective annual 
periods on or after 1 January 2014 
endorsed 17 June 2014).

(b) New standards and amendments 
issued but not effective until financial 
years beginning after 1 January 2016 
and not early adopted by the Group
•	 IFRS 11 (amendment), ‘Joint 

arrangements’ (effective from  
1 January 2016);

•	 IAS 16 ‘Property, plant and 
equipment’ and IAS 38 ‘Intangible 
assets’(amendment) (effective  
1 January 2016);

•	 IFRS 10 ‘Consolidated financial 
statements’ and IAS 28 
‘Investment in associates’ 
(amendment) (effective from  
1 January 2016);

•	 IAS 27 (amendment) ‘Separate 
financial statements’ (effective 
from 1 January 2016);

•	 IFRS 5 (amendment) ‘Non-
current assets held for sale 
and discontinued operations’ 
regarding methods of disposal 
(effective from 1 January 2016);

•	 IFRS 7 (amendment) ‘Financial 
instruments: Disclosures’, (with 
consequential amendments to IFRS 
1) regarding servicing contracts 
(effective from 1 January 2016);

•	 IAS 19 (amendment) ‘Employee 
benefits’ regarding discount rates 
(effective from 1 January 2016);

•	 IAS 34 (amendment) ‘Interim 
financial reporting’ regarding 
disclosure (effective from  
1 January 2016);

•	 IAS 1 (amendment) ‘Presentation 
of financial statements’ on the 
disclosure initiative (effective from 
1 January 2016);

•	 IFRS 9, ‘Financial instruments: 
Classification and Measurement’ 
(effective from 1 January 2018);

•	 IFRS 14, ‘Regulatory deferral 
accounts’ (effective from  
1 January 2016);

•	 IFRS 15, ‘Revenue from contracts 
with customers’ (effective from  
1 January 2018); and

•	 IFRS 16, ‘Leases’ (effective from  
1 January 2019).

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from contracts with 
customers’, establishes principles for 
reporting useful information to users of 
financial statements about the nature, 
amount, timing and uncertainty of 
revenue and cash flows arising from an 
entity’s contracts with customers. This 
standard is effective for annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2018 
while earlier application is permitted. 
The core principle of IFRS 15 is that an 
entity recognises revenue to depict the 
transfer of promised goods or services 
to customers in an amount that reflects 
the consideration to which the entity 
expects to be entitled in exchange for 
those goods or services. 

This revenue standard will impact 
telecommunication entities with certain 
changes having the potential for the 
greatest impact, such as:	

•	 Additional revenue may need 
to be allocated to discounted or 
‘free’ products provided at the 
beginning of a service period 
due to the elimination of the 
‘contingent revenue cap’, and 
changes to and restrictions 
in the use of the ‘residual 
method’ currently applied by the 
companies; and

•	 Accounting treatment of activation 
fees, customer acquisition costs, 
and certain contract fulfilment 
costs may be affected.

The Group is yet to assess full impact 
of this new revenue standard on its 
operations. It expects to apply this 
standard from 1 January 2018. 
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Management is in the process of 
identifying the relevance and the impact 
of the other standards, amendments 
and interpretations as mentioned 
above on its consolidated financial 
statements. Management expects 
that most of the relevant standards, 
amendments and interpretations will 
not have a material impact on the 
consolidated financial statements, 
except for IFRS 15, which is likely to 
result in acceleration of recognition of 
some revenue streams when adopted. 

2.2	Earnings per share
The Group presents basic earnings 
per share (EPS) data for its ordinary 
shares. Basic EPS is calculated by 
dividing the profit attributable to the 
ordinary shareholders of the Company 
by the weighted average number of 
ordinary shares outstanding during 
the period. Diluted EPS is calculated 
by adjusting the weighted average 
number of equity shares outstanding 
to assume conversion of all dilutive 
potential ordinary shares. The Group 
does not have any dilutive potential 
ordinary shares.

2.3 Critical accounting estimates and 
judgements
Estimates and judgements are 
continually evaluated and are based on 
historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events 
that are believed to be reasonable 
under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and 
assumptions concerning the future. 
The resulting accounting estimates 
will, by definition, seldom equal the 
related actual results. The estimates 
and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment 
to the carrying amounts of assets and 
liabilities within the next financial year 
are addressed below:

(i) Provision for impairment of trade 
receivables
The impairment charge reflects 
estimates of losses arising from 
the failure or inability of the parties 
concerned to make the required 
payments. The charge is based on the 
aging of the counter party accounts, 
historic experience and the information 
available on the parties’ financial 
position. Changes to the estimated 
impairment provision may be required 
if the financial condition of the parties 
was to improve or deteriorate.

(ii) Impairment of goodwill
The Group tests goodwill for 
impairment on an annual basis, in 
accordance with the accounting policy. 
The recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit has been determined 
based on value-in-use calculations. 
The cash flows are derived from the 
budget for the next five years and do 
not include restructuring activities that 
the Group is not yet committed to or 
significant future investments that will 
enhance the asset base of the cash 
generating unit being tested, but do 
include the Group’s expectations of 
future capital expenditure necessary to 
maintain the Group’s network existing 
operations. These calculations are 
performed internally by the Group 
and require the use of estimates and 
assumptions. The input factors most 
sensitive to change are management 
estimates of future cash flows 
based on budgets, growth rates and 
discount rate. Further detail on these 
assumptions has been disclosed in 
Note 7. The Group has performed a 
sensitivity analysis by varying these 
input factors by a reasonably possible 
margin and assessing whether the 
changes in input factors result in any 
of the goodwill allocated to appropriate 
cash generating units being impaired. 
No impairment is recognised on the 
goodwill in the current and the prior 
year.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

2. Basis of preparation (continued)
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(iii) Useful lives of property, plant and 
equipment
Property, plant and equipment 
represent a significant proportion of 
the Group’s asset base. Therefore, the 
judgements made in determining their 
estimated useful lives and residual 
values are critical to the Group’s 
financial position and performance. 
Useful lives and residual values are 
reviewed on an annual basis with the 
effects of any changes in estimates 
accounted for on a prospective basis. 

In determining residual values, the 
Group uses historical sales and 
management’s best estimate based on 
market prices of similar items. Useful 
lives of property, plant and equipment 
are based on management estimates 
and take into account historical 
experience with similar assets, the 
expected usage of the asset, physical 
wear and tear, technical or commercial 
obsolescence and legal restrictions on 
the use of the assets. The useful lives 
of the property, plant and equipment 
are provided in Note 3.2.

(iv) Asset retirement obligations
The Group exercises judgement 
in determining the expected cash 
outflows related to its asset retirement 
obligations. Judgement is necessary 
in determining the timing of outflow as 
well as quantifying the possible range 
of the financial settlements that may 
occur.

The present value of the Group’s 
provision is based on management’s 
best estimate of the future cash 
outflows required to settle the 
obligations, discounted using 
appropriate discount rate. Additional 
information on this provision is 
disclosed in Note 17.

(v) Federal royalty
The computation of Federal Royalty 
in accordance with the Cabinet of 
Ministers of UAE decision No. 320/15/23 
of 2012 and various guidelines issued 
by the UAE Ministry of Finance (“the 
MoF”) and subsequent clarification 
letters require use of certain critical 
judgements, interpretations and 
assumptions. These mainly relate 
to the segregation of items between 
regulated and other activities and items 
which the Group judges as not subject 
to Federal royalty or which may be set 
off against revenue which are subject to 
Federal royalty.

(vi) Residual value method
Postpaid products with multiple 
deliverables that have value to 
customers on standalone basis 
are defined as multiple element 
arrangements. Postpaid products 
typically include the sale of a handset, 
subscriber identification module 
(SIM) card and a service package. The 
principles in IAS 18 require that revenue 
in respect of each separable element 
of a transaction is measured at its fair 
value. Management believe that the 
price which is regularly charged for a 
standalone element is the best evidence 
of its fair value.

In case of postpaid customers’ 
arrangements, the total contract value 
is lower than the total fair value of 
the standalone elements. Therefore, 
management has decided to apply 
the residual value method to allocate 
the revenue over various elements. In 
applying the residual value method, 
consideration is allocated to each of the 
undelivered elements in the transaction, 
and any consideration remaining 
(the residual value) is allocated to the 
delivered elements.
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3. Summary of significant 
accounting policies
The principal accounting policies 
applied in the preparation of these 
consolidated financial statements are 
set out below. These policies have 
been consistently applied to all the 
years presented, unless otherwise 
stated.

3.1 Consolidation 
(a)	Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all entities over which 
the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is 
exposed to, or has rights to, variable 
returns from its involvement with the 
entity and has the ability to affect 
those returns through its power 
over the entity. Subsidiaries are fully 
consolidated from the date on which 
control is transferred to the Group. 
They are deconsolidated from the date 
that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition 
method to account for business 
combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a 
subsidiary is the fair values of the 
assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the 
acquiree and the equity interests 
issued by the Group.

The consideration transferred 
includes the fair value of any asset or 
liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. 
Identifiable assets acquired and 
liabilities and contingent liabilities 
assumed in a business combination 
are measured initially at their fair 
values at the acquisition date. The 
Group recognises any non-controlling 
interest in the acquiree on an 
acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling 
interest’s proportionate share of the 
recognised amounts of acquiree’s 
identifiable net assets.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed 
as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved 
in stages, the acquisition date carrying 
value of the acquirer’s previously 
held equity interest in the acquiree 
is re-measured to fair value at the 
acquisition date; any gains or losses 
arising from such re-measurement are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be 
transferred by the Group is recognised 
at fair value at the acquisition date. 
Subsequent changes to the fair value 
of the contingent consideration that 
is deemed to be an asset or liability is 
recognised in accordance with IAS 39 
either in profit or loss or as a change 
to other comprehensive income. 
Contingent consideration that is 
classified as equity is not re-measured, 
and its subsequent settlement is 
accounted for within equity. Inter-
company transactions, balances 
and unrealised gains on transactions 
between group entities are eliminated. 
Unrealised losses are also eliminated. 
When necessary, amounts reported 
by subsidiaries have been adjusted to 
conform with the Group’s accounting 
policies.

(b) Changes in ownership interests 
in subsidiaries without change of 
control 
Transactions with non-controlling 
interests that do not result in loss of 
control are accounted for as equity 
transactions – that is, as transactions 
with the owners in their capacity as 
owners. The difference between fair 
value of any consideration paid and the 
relevant share acquired of the carrying 
value of net assets of the subsidiary is 
recorded in equity. Gains or losses on 
disposals to non-controlling interests 
are also recorded in equity.

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
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(c) Associates 
Associates are all entities over which 
the Group has significant influence but 
not control, generally accompanying 
a shareholding of between 20% and 
50% of the voting rights. Investments 
in associates are accounted for using 
the equity method of accounting. 
Under the equity method, the 
investment is initially recognised at 
cost, and the carrying amount is 
increased or decreased to recognise 
the investor’s share of the profit or 
loss of the investee after the date of 
acquisition. The Group’s investment in 
associate includes goodwill identified 
on acquisition.

If the ownership interest in an 
associate is reduced but significant 
influence is retained, only a 
proportionate share of the amounts 
previously recognised in other 
comprehensive income is reclassified 
to profit or loss where appropriate.

If the owernership in an associate is 
increased in a way that the Group 
acquires power to govern the finanical 
and operating policies of the acquiree, 
the acquiree is consolidated as a 
subsidiary as a step acquisition as 
per IFRS 3. After taking into account 
any impairment, the investment in 
the associate is derecognised and 
any gain or loss on derecognition 
of the investment is taken to the 
consolidated income statement. 
However, if the ownership is increased 
and the Group maintains significant 
influence, the Group increases the 
investment amount.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition 
profit or loss is recognised in the 
consolidated income statement, 
and its share of post-acquisition 
movements in other comprehensive 
income is recognised in other 
comprehensive income with a 
corresponding adjustment to the 

carrying amount of the investment. 
When the Group’s share of losses in an 
associate equals or exceeds its interest 
in the associate, including any other 
unsecured receivables, the Group does 
not recognise further losses, unless 
it has incurred legal or constructive 
obligations or made payments on 
behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each 
reporting date whether there is any 
objective evidence that the investment 
in the associate is impaired. If this 
is the case, the Group calculates 
the amount of impairment as the 
difference between the recoverable 
amount of the associate and its 
carrying value and recognises the 
amount adjacent to ‘share of profit/
(loss) of associate in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

Profits and losses resulting from 
transactions between the Group 
and its associate are recognised in 
the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements only to the extent of 
unrelated investor’s interests in the 
associates. Unrealised losses are 
eliminated unless the transaction 
provides evidence of an impairment of 
the asset transferred. The accounting 
policies of the associates are same as 
the Group’s accounting policies.

3.2 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment 
are stated at historical cost less 
accumulated depreciation and 
impairment. Historical cost includes 
expenditure that is directly attributable 
to the acquisition of the assets. 
Subsequent costs are included in the 
asset’s carrying amount or recognised 
as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future 
economic benefits associated with 
the item will flow to the Group and 
the cost of the item can be measured 
reliably. The carrying amount of the 
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replaced part is derecognised. All other 
repairs and maintenance expenses are 
charged to the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income during 
the financial year in which they are 
incurred.

Depreciation is calculated using the 
straight-line method to allocate their 
cost or revalued amounts to their 
residual values over their estimated 
useful lives, as follows:

Years
Buildings 20-35

Plant and equipment 2-25
Furniture and fixtures 3-5

Motor vehicles 4

The assets’ residual values and useful 
lives are reviewed, and adjusted 
if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. An asset’s carrying 
amount is written down immediately 
to its recoverable amount if the asset’s 
carrying amount is greater than its 
estimated recoverable amount  
(Note 3.11.2).

Gains and losses on disposals 
are determined by comparing the 
proceeds with the carrying amount 
and are recognised within “other 
income” in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income.

Capital work in progress includes 
assets which are under construction 
or inspection pending certification 
for their intended use and are stated 
at cost net of any accumulated 
impairment losses. When available 
for use, capital work in progress 
is transferred to property, plant 
and equipment and depreciated in 
accordance with the Group’s policies. 

No depreciation is charged on such 
assets until available for use.

3.3 Intangible assets
Goodwill
Goodwill arises on the acquisition 
of subsidiaries or businesses 
and represents the excess of the 
consideration transferred, the amount 
of any non-controlling interest in the 
acquiree and the acquisition-date fair 
value of any previous equity interest 
in the acquiree over the fair value of 
the identifiable net assets acquired. If 
the total of consideration transferred, 
non-controlling interest recognised 
and previously held interest measured 
at fair value is less than the fair value 
of the net assets of the subsidiary 
acquiree, in the case of a bargain 
purchase, the difference is recognised 
directly in the consolidated statement 
of comprehensive income.

For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at 
the lowest levels for which there are 
separately identifiable cash inflows 
which are largely independent of the 
cash inflows from other assets or 
groups of assets (cash-generating 
units). Each unit or group of units 
to which the goodwill is allocated 
represents the lowest level within 
the Group at which the goodwill is 
monitored for internal management 
purposes. Goodwill is monitored at the 
operating segment level.

Goodwill impairment reviews are 
undertaken annually or more 
frequently if events or changes in 
circumstances indicate a potential 
impairment. The carrying value of 
the Cash Generating Units (CGUs) 
containing the goodwill is compared 
to the recoverable amount, which 
is the higher of value in use and the 
fair value less costs of disposal. Any 
impairment is recognised immediately 

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

3. Summary of significant 
accounting policies(continued)
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as an expense and is not subsequently 
reversed.

Licenses and other rights of use
Separately acquired licenses and 
rights of use are shown at historical 
cost. Licenses and rights of use 
acquired in a business combination 
are recognised at fair value at the 
acquisition date. Licenses and rights 
of use have a finite useful life and 
are carried at cost less accumulated 
amortisation. Amortisation is 
calculated using the straight-line 
method to allocate the cost of licenses 
and rights of use over their estimated 
useful lives as shown below:

Years
Telecommunications 

license fee
20

Indefeasible right of use 10-15

Acquired computer software licenses 
are capitalised on the basis of the 
costs incurred to acquire and bring to 
use the specific software. These costs 
are amortised over their estimated 
useful lives of five years. Costs 
associated with maintaining computer 
software programmes are recognised 
as an expense as incurred.

3.4 Leases
Leases in which a significant portion 
of the risks and rewards of ownership 
are retained by the lessor are classified 
as operating leases. Payments made 
under operating leases (net of any 
incentives received from the lessor) 
are charged to the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income 
on a straight-line basis over the period 
of the lease.

Leases of property, plant and 
equipment where the Group has 
substantially all the risks and rewards 

of ownership are classified as finance 
leases. Finance leases are capitalised 
at the leases’ commencement at the 
lower of the fair value of the leased 
property and the present value of the 
minimum lease payments.

Each lease payment is allocated 
between the liability and finance 
charges. The corresponding rental 
obligations, net of finance charges, are 
included in other long term payables. 
The interest element of the finance 
cost is charged to consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income 
over the lease period so as to produce 
a constant periodic rate of interest on 
the remaining balance of the liability 
for each period. The property, plant 
and equipment acquired under finance 
leases are depreciated over the 
shorter of the useful life of the asset 
and the lease term.

3.5 Inventories
Inventories are stated at the lower 
of cost and net realisable value. Cost 
is determined using the weighted 
average method. It excludes borrowing 
costs. Net realisable value is the 
estimated selling price in the ordinary 
course of business, less applicable 
variable selling expenses.

3.6 Trade receivables
Trade receivables are amounts due 
from customers for goods sold or 
services performed in the ordinary 
course of business. If collection is 
expected in one year or less, they are 
classified as current assets. If not, they 
are presented as non-current assets. 
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3.7 Financial instruments

3.7.1 Non-derivative financial assets
Classification
The Group classifies its financial 
assets as loans and receivables. The 
classification depends on the purpose 
for which the financial assets were 
acquired. Management determines the 
classification of its financial assets at 
initial recognition.

Loans and receivables are non-
derivative financial assets with fixed 
or determinable payments that 
are not quoted in an active market. 
They are included in current assets, 
except for maturities greater than 12 
months after the end of the reporting 
period. These are classified as non-
current assets. The Group’s loans and 
receivables comprise ‘trade and other 
receivables’, ‘due from related parties’ 
‘short term investments’ and ‘cash 
and bank balances’ in the consolidated 
statement of financial position.

Recognition and measurement
The Group recognises loans and 
receivables when it becomes a party 
to the contractual provision of the 
instruments. The Group derecognises 
a financial asset when the contractual 
rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or it transfers the rights to 
receive the contractual cash flows on 
the financial asset in a transaction in 
which substantially all the risks and 
rewards of ownership of the financial 
asset are transferred. Any interest 
in transferred financial assets that 
is created or retained by the Group 
is recognised as a separate asset or 
liability. 

Loans and receivables are recognised 
initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. 

Subsequent to initial recognition 
loans and receivables are measured 
at amortised cost using the effective 
interest method, less any impairment 
losses. 

Cash and bank balances comprise 
cash balances and call deposits with 
original maturities of three months 
or less. Bank overdrafts, if any, 
that are repayable on demand and 
form an integral part of the Group’s 
cash management are included 
as a component of cash and cash 
equivalents for the purpose of the 
consolidated statement of cash flows.

3.7.2 Non-derivative financial 
liabilities
The Group has the following 
non-derivative financial liabilities: 
‘borrowings’, ‘due to related parties’ 
and ‘trade and other payables’ in the 
consolidated statement of financial 
position.

Such financial liabilities are recognised 
initially at fair value plus any directly 
attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition these 
financial liabilities are measured at 
amortised cost using the effective 
interest method.

The Group derecognises a financial 
liability when its contractual 
obligations are discharged or cancelled 
or expire.

3.7.3 Derivative financial instruments
Derivatives are initially recognised 
at fair value on the date a derivative 
contract is entered into and are 
subsequently re-measured to their 
fair value at the end of each reporting 
period. The accounting for subsequent 
changes in fair value depends on 
whether the derivative is designated 
as a hedging instrument, and if so, 
the nature of the item being hedged. 
The Group designates certain 
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derivatives as hedges of a particular 
risk associated with the cash flows of 
recognised assets and liabilities.

The Group documents at the 
inception of the hedging transaction 
the relationship between hedging 
instruments and hedged items, as 
well as its risk management objective 
and strategy for undertaking various 
hedge transactions. The Group also 
documents its assessment, both at 
hedge inception and on an ongoing 
basis, of whether the derivatives that 
are used in hedging transactions have 
been and will continue to be highly 
effective in offsetting changes in cash 
flows of hedged items.

The fair value of the derivative 
financial instruments used for hedging 
purposes are disclosed in note 9. 
Movement in the hedging reserve in 
shareholders’ equity is shown in Note 
20. The full fair value of a hedging 
derivative is classified as a non-current 
asset or liability when the remaining 
maturity of the hedged item is more 
than 12 months; it is classified as a 
current asset or liability when the 
remaining maturity of the hedged item 
is less than 12 months. 

Cash flow hedge
The effective portion of changes 
in the fair value of derivatives that 
are designated and qualify as 
cash flow hedges is recognised in 
other comprehensive income and 
accumulated in hedge reserve in 
equity. The gain or loss relating to 
the ineffective portion is recognised 
immediately in profit or loss within 
other income or other expense.

Amounts accumulated in equity are 
reclassified to profit or loss in the 
periods when the hedged item affects 
profit or loss. The gain or loss relating 
to the effective portion of interest 
rate swaps hedging variable rate 

borrowings is recognised in profit or 
loss within ‘finance expenses’.

3.7.4 Offsetting of financial 
instruments
Financial assets and liabilities are 
offset and the net amount reported 
in the consolidated statement of 
financial position if, and only if, there 
is a currently enforceable legal right 
to offset the recognised amounts 
and there is an intention to settle on a 
net basis, or to realise the assets and 
settle the liabilities simultaneously.

3.7.5 Share capital
Ordinary shares are classified as 
equity. Incremental costs directly 
attributable to the issue of ordinary 
shares and share options are 
recognised as a deduction from 
equity.

3.7.6 Dividend on ordinary shares
Dividends payable on ordinary shares 
are recognised as a liability in the 
period in which they are approved 
by the Group’s shareholders, but are 
included in a separate component 
of reserves once proposed by the 
Company’s Board of Directors.

3.8 Trade payables
Trade payables are obligations to 
pay for goods or services that have 
been acquired in the ordinary course 
of business from suppliers. Trade 
payables are classified as current 
liabilities if payment is due within 
one year or less (or in the normal 
operating cycle of the business if 
longer). If not, they are presented as 
non-current liabilities. Trade payables 
are recognised initially at fair value and 
subsequently measured at amortised 
cost using the effective interest 
method.

3.9 Provisions
Provisions are recognised when the 
Group has a legal or constructive 
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obligation as a result of a past event, 
it is probable that an outflow of 
resources will be required to settle 
the obligation, and the amount can be 
reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the 
present value of the expenditures 
expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a discount rate that 
reflects current market assessments 
of the time value of money and the 
risks specific to the obligation. The 
increase in provision is recognised 
in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income.

Asset retirement obligations
This provision relates to the estimate 
of the cost of dismantling and 
removing an item of property, plant 
and equipment and restoring the site 
on which the item was located to its 
original condition. The Group provides 
for the anticipated costs associated 
with the restoration of leasehold 
property to its original condition 
at inception of the lease, including 
removal of items included in plant and 
equipment.

3.10 Employee benefits
Payments made to state-managed 
pension schemes are dealt with as 
payments to defined contribution 
schemes where the Group’s obligations 
under the schemes are equivalent to 
those arising in a defined contribution 
scheme. Accordingly, the accrued 
cost of contribution is charged 
to the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income as incurred. 

Provision for employees’ end of service 
benefits for non-UAE nationals is 
made in accordance with UAE Labour 
Law. The provision is calculated in 
accordance with the Projected Unit 

Cost method as per IAS 19 ‘Employee 
Benefits’ taking into consideration the 
UAE Labour Laws. 

The present value of the defined 
benefit obligations is calculated using 
assumptions on the average annual 
rate of increase in salaries, average 
period of employment of non-UAE 
nationals and an appropriate discount 
rate. The assumptions used are 
calculated on a consistent basis for 
each period and reflect management’s 
best estimate.

The discount rates are set in line 
with the best available estimate of 
market yields currently available at the 
reporting date with reference to high 
quality corporate bonds or other basis, 
if applicable.

Changes in the present value of the 
defined benefit obligation resulting 
from amendments or curtailments 
are recognised immediately in 
comprehensive income as past service 
costs. Provision is also made for the 
estimated liability for employees’ 
unused entitlements to annual leave 
and flights as a result of services 
rendered by eligible employees up 
to the reporting date. The provision 
relating to annual leave and air 
passage is disclosed as a current 
liability, while that relating to end of 
service benefits is disclosed as a non-
current liability.

The Group also provides mobile 
allowances and discounted mobile 
telephone charges to employees for 
official and personal purposes. This 
benefit is not separately accounted for 
as staff costs.

3.11 Impairment

3.11.1 Financial assets 
The Group assesses at the end of 
each reporting period whether there is 
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objective evidence that a financial asset 
or group of financial assets is impaired. 
A financial asset or a group of financial 
assets is impaired and impairment 
losses are incurred only if there is 
objective evidence of impairment as 
a result of one or more events that 
occurred after the initial recognition 
of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that 
loss event (or events) has an impact 
on the estimated future cash flows of 
the financial asset or group of financial 
assets that can be reliably estimated. 

A provision for impairment against 
doubtful trade receivables is created 
in the period in which management 
becomes aware of the uncertainty. 
The calculation for the provision for 
impairment takes into consideration 
factors like service type, customer 
segment, aging of customer’s 
accounts, customer collection trends, 
payment made by the customers, 
disputes and specific or individually 
identified receivables.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount 
of the impairment loss decreases 
and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after 
the impairment was recognised (such 
as an improvement in the debtor’s 
credit rating), the reversal of the 
previously recognised impairment 
loss is recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.

3.11.2 Non-financial assets
Intangible assets that have an 
indefinite useful life or intangible assets 
(including capital work in progress) 
not ready to use are not subject to 
amortisation and are tested annually 
for impairment. Assets that are 
subject to amortisation are reviewed 
for impairment whenever events or 
changes in circumstances indicate 
that the carrying amount may not 
be recoverable. An impairment loss 
is recognised for the amount by 

which the asset’s carrying amount 
exceeds its recoverable amount. The 
recoverable amount is the higher of an 
asset’s fair value less costs of disposal 
and value in use. 

For the purposes of assessing 
impairment, assets are grouped at the 
lowest levels for which there are largely 
independent cash inflows (CGUs’). Prior 
impairments of non-financial assets 
(other than goodwill) are reviewed for 
possible reversal at each reporting 
date.

3.12 Foreign currency translation
(a) Functional and presentation 
currency
Items included in the consolidated 
financial statements are measured 
using the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which 
the Group operates (‘the functional 
currency’). The consolidated financial 
statements are presented in AED which 
is the Company’s and its subsidiaries 
functional and presentation currency. 
The figures have been rounded to 
the nearest thousand except when 
otherwise stated.

(b) Transactions and balances 
Foreign currency transactions are 
translated into the functional currency 
using the exchange rates prevailing at 
the dates of the transactions.

Foreign exchange gains and losses 
resulting from the settlement of 
such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates 
of monetary assets and liabilities 
denominated in foreign currencies 
are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income 
within finance income or expense.

3.13 Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the invoiced or 
accrued amounts from the sale of 
goods and services (telecommunication 
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and others) in the ordinary course 
of the Group’s activities. Revenue is 
shown net of returns, discounts and 
rebates allowed.

Revenue from telecommunication 
services comprise amounts 
charged to customers in respect 
of monthly access charges, airtime 
usage, messaging, the provision of 
other mobile telecommunications 
services, including data services and 
information provision and fees for 
connecting fixed line and mobile users 
to the Group’s network. 

Revenue from the sale of goods 
and the rendering of services is 
recognised when it is probable that the 
economic benefits associated with the 
transaction will flow to the Group and 
the amount of revenue, and associated 
costs incurred or to be incurred, can 
be measured reliably. The amount of 
revenue is not considered to be reliably 
measurable until all contingencies 
relating to the sale have been resolved.
 
Postpaid products with multiple 
deliverables that have value to a 
customer on standalone basis are  
defined as multiple element 
arrangements. Postpaid products 
typically include the sale of a handset, 
subscriber identification module (SIM) 
card and a service package which 
mainly include voice, data and SMS/
MMS. These arrangements (mainly 
the subsidy plans) are divided into 
separate performance obligations, and 
revenue is mainly recognised through 
application of the residual value 
method. 

In applying the residual value method, 
consideration is allocated to each 
of the undelivered elements in the 
transaction, and any consideration 

remaining (the residual value) is 
allocated to the delivered elements.

The Group operates loyalty 
programmes where customers 
accumulate points for purchases 
made, which entitle them to discounts 
on future purchases. The reward 
points are recognised as a separately 
identifiable component of the initial 
sale transaction by allocating the fair 
value of the consideration received 
between the reward points and the 
other components of the sale such 
that the reward points are initially 
recognised as deferred revenue at 
their fair value. Revenue from the 
reward points is recognised when 
the points are redeemed. Breakage 
(forfeiture of points) is recognised 
when redemption becomes remote.

Access charges, airtime and other 
services used by postpaid customers 
are invoiced and recorded as part of 
a periodic billing cycle and recognised 
as revenue over the related access 
period, with unbilled revenue resulting 
from services already provided from 
the billing cycle date to the end of each 
period accrued. 

Revenue from the sale of prepaid 
credit is recognised on the actual 
utilisation of the prepaid credit and 
is deferred as deferred revenue until 
such time as the customer uses the 
credit, or the credit expires. 

Revenue from sale of SIM cards is 
recognised on the date of sale to the 
customer. 

Contract revenue is recognised under 
the percentage of completion method. 
Profit on contracts is recognised only 
when the outcome of the contracts 
can be reliably estimated.

Provision is made for foreseeable 
losses estimated to complete 
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contracts. Contract revenue mainly 
comprises revenue from managed 
services provided by the Group. 

Revenue from interconnection of 
voice and data traffic with other 
telecommunications operators is 
recognised at the time the services 
are performed based on the actual 
recorded traffic.

Incentives (promotions) are provided 
to customers in various forms and 
are usually offered on signing a 
new contract, sale of SIM card, sale 
of recharge or as part of a regular 
promotional offering. Incentives 
provided on the signing of contracts 
or sale of SIM cards to customers are 
recognised as an upfront discount 
against revenue. Incentives provided 
on the sale of recharge to prepaid 
customers are recognised as a 
deduction against revenue over the 
estimated period of usage of the 
respective recharge while incentives 
provided to postpaid customers are 
recorded over their billing period.

Incentives are also provided upon 
sale of SIM cards and vouchers to 
intermediaries. Where amounts paid 
upfront to intermediaries represent 
an amount contributed to enable the 
intermediaries to offer discounts to 
customers, they are recognised as a 
discount from revenue. 

When the Group sells goods or 
services as a principal, revenue 
from customers and payments to 
suppliers are reported on a gross 
basis in revenue and operating costs. 
If the Group sells goods or services 
as an agent, revenue and payments 
to suppliers are recorded in revenue 
on a net basis, representing the 
margin earned. Whether the Group 
is considered to be the principal or 
an agent in the transaction depends 
on analysis by management of both 

the legal form and substance of the 
agreement between the Group and its 
business partners; such judgements 
impact the amount of reported 
revenue and operating expenses but 
do not impact reported profits, assets, 
liabilities or cash flows. 

3.14 Commission to intermediaries
Intermediaries are paid commissions 
by the Group mainly in return for 
acquiring new customers and selling 
recharge credits. Such commissions 
are recognised as an expense in the 
period when the respective services 
are provided.

3.15 Recognition of finance income and 
expenses
Finance income comprises interest 
income on short term investments and 
other bank deposits. Interest income 
is recognised as it accrues in profit 
or loss, using the effective interest 
method.

Finance expense is mainly interest 
payable on borrowing facilities 
obtained from suppliers and financial 
institutions at normal commercial 
rates and is recognised as an expense 
in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income in the period in 
which it is incurred.

3.16 Borrowing costs
Borrowing costs directly attributable 
to the acquisition, construction or 
production of qualifying assets, which 
are assets that necessarily take a 
substantial period of time to get ready 
for their intended use or sale, are added 
to the cost of those assets, until such 
time as the assets are substantially 
ready for their intended use or sale. 
Investment income earned on the 
temporary investment of specific 
borrowings pending their expenditure 
on qualifying assets is deducted 
from the borrowing costs eligible for 
capitalisation. All other borrowing 
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costs are recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income in 
the period in which they are incurred.

3.17 Cash dividend distribution to 
equity holders of the parent
The Group recognises a liability to make 
cash distributions to equity holders 
when the distribution is authorised 
and the distribution is no longer at 
the discretion of the Company. As 
per the Federal Law, a distribution is 
authorised when it is approved by the 
shareholders. A corresponding amount 
is recognised directly in equity. 

3.18 Segmental information
Information regarding the Group’s 
operating segments is reported in 
accordance with IFRS 8 Operating 
Segments. IFRS 8 requires operating 
segments to be identified on the basis 
of internal reports that are regularly 
reviewed by the Group’s chief 
operating decision maker and used to 
allocate resources to the segments 
and to assess their performance.

3.19 Government grants
Government grants relating to non-
monetary assets are recognised at 
nominal value. Grants that compensate 
the Group for expenses are recognised 
in the profit or loss on a systematic 
basis in the same period in which 
the expenses are recognised. Grants 
that compensate the Group for the 
cost of an asset are recognised 
in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income on a systematic 
basis over the expected useful life of 
the related asset upon capitalisation.

4. Determination of fair values
A number of the Group’s accounting 
policies and disclosures require the 
determination of fair value, for both 

financial and non-financial assets 
and liabilities. Fair values have been 
determined for measurement and/
or disclosure purposes, based on the 
following methods.

4.1 Trade and other receivables
The fair value of trade and other 
receivables is estimated as the present 
value of future cash flows, discounted 
at the market rate of interest at the 
reporting date.

4.2 Non-derivative financial liabilities 
Fair value, which is determined for 
disclosure purposes, is calculated 
based on the present value of future 
principal and interest cash flows, 
discounted at the market rate of 
interest at the reporting date.
4.3 Derivative financial instruments
Derivative financial instruments are 
initially measured at fair value at 
trade date, and are subsequently 
remeasured at fair value. All derivatives 
are carried at their fair values as assets 
where the fair values are positive and 
as liabilities where the fair values are 
negative. 

Derivative fair values are determined 
from quoted prices in active markets 
where available. Where there is no active 
market for an instrument, fair value is 
derived from prices for the derivative’s 
components from mark to market 
values provided by the bankers.

The method of recognising fair value 
gains and losses depends on whether 
derivatives are held for trading or are 
designated as hedging instruments, 
and if the latter, the nature of the risks 
being hedged. The Group purchases 
derivatives only for hedging purposes. 

5. Financial risk management
5.1 Financial risk factors
The Group’s activities expose it to 
a variety of financial risks: market 
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risk (including currency risk, cash 
flow and fair value interest rate 
risks and price risk), credit risk and 
liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk 
management process focuses on the 
unpredictability of financial markets 
and seeks to minimise potential 
adverse effects on the Group’s 
financial performance. 

This note presents information about 
the Group’s exposure to each of the 
above risks, the Group’s objectives, 
policies and processes for measuring 
and managing risk, and the Group’s 
management of capital. Further 
quantitative disclosures are included 
throughout these consolidated 
financial statements.

The Board of Directors has overall 
responsibility for the establishment 
and oversight of the Group’s risk 
management framework. The 
Board is responsible for developing 
and monitoring the Group’s risk 
management policies.

The Group’s risk management policies 
are established to identify and analyse 
the risks faced by the Group, to set 
appropriate risk limits and controls, and 
to monitor risks and adherence to limits. 
Risk management policies and systems 
are reviewed regularly to reflect changes 
in market conditions and the Group’s 
activities. The Group, through its 
training and management standards 
and procedures, aims to develop a 
disciplined and constructive control 
environment in which all employees 
understand their roles and obligations.

The Group’s Audit Committee 
oversees how management monitors 
compliance with the Group’s risk 
management policies and procedures 
and reviews the adequacy of the risk 
management framework in relation to 
the risks faced by the Group. The Audit 
Committee is assisted in its oversight 

role by Internal Control department. 
Internal Control department 
undertakes both regular and adhoc 
reviews of risk management controls 
and procedures, the results of which 
are reported to the Audit Committee.

(a) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial 
loss to the Group if a customer 
or counterparty to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual 
obligations, and arises principally 
from the Group’s receivables from 
customers.

Trade and other receivables
The Group’s exposure to credit risk 
is influenced mainly by the individual 
characteristics of each customer. 
The demographics of the Group’s 
customer base has less of an influence 
on credit risk. 

The management has established 
a credit policy under which each 
new customer is analysed for 
creditworthiness before the Group’s 
terms and conditions are offered. The 
Group’s review can include external 
ratings, when available, customer 
segmentation, and in some cases 
bank references. Credit limits are 
established for each customer in 
accordance with this policy, which 
represents the maximum open 
amount without requiring approval 
from senior management. These limits 
are reviewed periodically. 

In monitoring customer credit risk, 
customers are classified according to 
their credit characteristics, including 
whether they are an individual or legal 
entity, projected business volumes, 
new or established businesses 
and existence of previous financial 
relationships with the Group.

The Group may require deposit or 
collateral in respect of granting credit 
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for trade and other receivables, 
subject to results of risk assessment 
and the nature and volumes 
contemplated by the customer.

The Group establishes an allowance 
for impairment that represents its 
estimate of incurred losses in respect 
of trade and other receivables. All 
individually significant assets (such 
as receivables from broadcast 
customers and distributors etc.) are 
assessed for specific impairment. 
Receivables related to postpaid and 
broadband customers are assessed 
for impairment based on portfolio 
of similar assets while considering 
the aging of balances and portfolio 
collection history.

The carrying amount of financial 
assets recorded in the consolidated 
financial statements, net of any 
allowances for losses, represents the 
Group’s maximum exposure to credit 
risk without taking account of the 
value of any collateral obtained.

Cash and bank balances
Cash is placed with reputable banks 
and the risk of default is considered 
remote.

(b) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group 
will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due.

The Group’s approach to managing 
liquidity is to ensure that it will always 
have sufficient liquidity to meet 
its liabilities when due, under both 
normal and stressed conditions, 
without incurring unacceptable losses 
or risking damage to the Group’s 
business and reputation. A major 
portion of the Group’s funds are 
invested in short term investments 

which are readily available to meet 
expected operational expenses, 
including servicing of financial 
obligations. The table in Note 28.2 
analyses the Group’s non-derivative 
financial liabilities and derivative 
financial liabilities, if any, into relevant 
maturity groupings based on the 
remaining period at the reporting 
date to the contractual maturity date. 
Derivative financial liabilities, if any, 
are included in the analysis if their 
contractual maturities are essential for 
an understanding of the timing of the 
cash flows. The amounts disclosed 
in the table are the contractual 
undiscounted cash flows.

(c) Market risk
Market risk is the risk that changes 
in market prices, such as foreign 
exchange rates, interest rates and 
equity prices will affect the Group’s 
income or the value of its holdings of 
financial instruments. The objective of 
market risk management is to manage 
and control market risk exposures 
within acceptable parameters, while 
optimising the return. The Group’s 
exposure to market risk arises from:

•	 Foreign exchange risk
•	 Cash flow and fair value interest 

rate risks

(i) Foreign exchange risk
The Group is exposed to currency 
risk on sales and purchases that 
are denominated in a currency, 
primarily the Euro, other than the 
functional currency of the Company 
and its subsidiaries. In respect of the 
Group’s transactions denominated 
in US Dollars (USD), the Group is not 
exposed to material currency risk as 
the AED is currently pegged to the 
USD at a fixed rate of exchange.

The Group’s exposure and sensitivity 
analysis in respect to the foreign 
exchange risk is detailed in Note 28.3. 
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(ii) Cash flow and fair value interest 
rate risks
The Group’s interest rate risk arises 
from borrowings. Borrowings issued 
at variable rates expose the Group 
to cash flow interest rate risk which 
is partially offset by short term 
investments held at variable rates. 
Borrowings issued at fixed rates 
expose the Group to fair value interest 
rate risk. During 2015 and 2014, the 
Group’s borrowings at variable rate 
were denominated in the USD.

The Group analyses its interest rate 
exposure on a dynamic basis. Various 
scenarios are simulated taking into 
consideration refinancing, renewal 
of existing positions, alternative 
financing and interest rate swaps. 
Based on these scenarios, the Group 
calculates the impact on profit and 
loss of a defined interest rate shift. 
The scenarios are run only for liabilities 
that represent the major interest-
bearing positions.

The sensitivity analysis performed by 
the Group in respect to the interest 
rate risk is detailed in Note 28.4. 
The sensitivity analysis is done on 
a regular basis to verify that the 
maximum loss potential is within the 
limit given by the management.

Based on the various scenarios, the 
Group manages its cash flow interest 
rate risk by using floating-to-fixed 
interest rate swaps. Such interest rate 
swaps have the economic effect of 
converting borrowings from floating 
rates to fixed rates. Generally, the 
Group raises long-term borrowings 
at floating rates and swaps them into 
fixed rates that are lower than those 
available if the Group borrowed at 
fixed rates directly.

5.2 Capital risk management
The Group’s objectives when 
managing capital are to safeguard the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns 
for shareholders and benefits for 
other stakeholders and to maintain an 
optimal capital structure to reduce the 
cost of capital.

Consistent with others in the 
industry, the Group monitors capital 
on the basis of the gearing ratio. This 
ratio is calculated as net debt divided 
by total capital. Net debt is calculated 
as total borrowings as shown in the 
consolidated statement of financial 
position, less cash and bank balances 
and short term investments. Total 
capital is calculated as ‘equity’ as 
shown in the consolidated statement 
of financial position, plus net debt.



Annual report 2015

62 Consolidated financial statements

2015
AED 000 

2014
AED 000

Total borrowings (Note 15)
Less: Cash and bank balances/short term 

investments (Notes 12 & 13)

4,491,458
(6,363,288)

4,430,598
(6,032,737)

Net debt
Total equity

(1,871,830)
7,818,656

(1,602,139)
7,838,739

Total capital 5,946,826 6,236,600

Gearing ratio (31%) (26%)

5.3 Fair value estimation
The fair values of the Group’s financial 
assets and liabilities approximated 
their book amounts as reflected 
in these consolidated financial 
statements.

The table below analyses financial 
instruments carried at fair value, by 
valuation method. The different levels 
have been defined as follows:

Level 1 – �Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets  
or liabilities.

Level 2 – �Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are 
observable for asset or liability, either directly (that is, as prices)  
or indirectly (that is, derived from prices).

Level 3 – �Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market 
data (that is, unobservable inputs).

In AED’000

At 31 December 2015 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

Derivative financial instrument [Note 9] - 3,033 - 3,033

At 31 December 2014

Derivative financial instrument - - 786 786

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)

5. Financial risk management 
(continued)
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The fair value of financial instruments 
that are not traded in an active 
market is determined by using 
valuation techniques. These valuation 
techniques maximise the use of 
observable market data where it is 
available and rely as little as possible 
on entity specific estimates. The fair 
value of interest rate swaps classified 
as derivative financial instruments in 
the table above is provided by  
the bank.

Financial instruments comprise 
financial assets and financial liabilities.

Financial assets of the Group include 
cash and bank balances, trade 
receivables and other receivables, 
due from related parties and short 
term investments. Financial liabilities 
of the Group include borrowings, 
trade and accruals, due to other 
telecommunication operators, 
customer deposits, retention payable, 
accrued royalty, due to other related 
parties and other payables. The fair 
values of these financial assets and 
liabilities are not materially different 
from their carrying values unless 
stated otherwise (Note 28). 
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6. Property, plant and equipment

Buildings
AED 000 

Plant and 
equipment

AED 000 

Furniture 
and 

fixtures
AED 000 

Motor 
vehicles

AED 000

Capital 
work in 

progress
AED 000

Total
AED 000

Cost
At 1 January 2014

Additions
Addition: asset retirement 

obligations
Transfers
Disposals

47,208
-

-
-
-

10,867,711
654,066

11,593
338,354
(6,538)

230,112
8,242

-
1,815

(2,148)

1,482
87

-
-

(33)

1,152,512
812,606

-
(340,169)

-

12,299,025
1,475,001

11,593
-

(8,719)

At 31 December 2014 47,208 11,865,186 238,021 1,536 1,624,949 13,776,900

Additions
Addition: asset retirement 

obligations
Transfers
Disposals

-

-
-
-

326,680

1,906
1,887,038
(221,409)

10,509

-
9,105

(2,879)

-

-
-
-

1,205,515

-
(1,896,143)

-

1,542,704

1,906
-

(224,288)

At 31 December 2015 47,208 13,859,401 254,756 1,536 934,321 15,097,222

Depreciation / impairment 
At 1 January 2014

Charge for the year
Disposals/write-off
Impairment charge

17,507
2,233

-  

4,205,491
1,120,567

(5,478)
15,167  

189,777
23,175

(1,866)
-  

1,482
10

(33)
-

11,850
-

(6,605)
1,251  

4,426,107
1,145,985

(13,982)
16,418

At 31 December 2014 19,740 5,335,747 211,086 1,459 6,496 5,574,528

Charge for the year
Disposals/write-off
Impairment charge 

2,234
-
-

1,286,041
(189,338)

76,570

18,407
(2,813)

-

21
-
-

-
(2,796)

888

1,306,703
(194,947)

77,458

At 31 December 2015 21,974 6,509,020 226,680 1,480 4,588 6,763,742

Net book value
At 31 December 2015 25,234 7,350,381 28,076 56 929,733 8,333,480

At 31 December 2014 27,468 6,529,439 26,935 77 1,618,453 8,202,372

The carrying amount of the Group’s buildings include a nominal amount of AED 1 
(2014: AED 1) in relation to land granted to the Group by the UAE Government

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
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7. Intangible assets

Goodwill

The Group acquired the business and assets of three wholly owned subsidiaries/
divisions of Tecom Investments FZ LLC with effect from 31 December 2005. 
Goodwill represents the excess of purchase consideration paid over the fair value 
of net assets acquired.

Carrying amount of goodwill allocated to each of Cash Generating Units (“CGU”) is as 
follows:

The Group tests goodwill for impairment annually. The recoverable amount of the 
Cash Generating Units (“CGU”) is determined using the Discounted Cash Flow method 
based on the five year business plan approved by the Board of Directors. 

The estimated recoverable amount of the broadcasting CGU exceeded its carrying 
amount by AED 105 million and that of the fixed line business exceeded its carrying 
amount by AED 14,057 million. The management has identified that a reasonably 
possible change in its key assumptions would not cause the carrying amount to 
exceed its recoverable amount.

The key assumptions for the value-in-use calculations at 31 December 2015 include 
a discount rate of 9.42% and a terminal growth rate of 3%. The discount rate was 
a pre-tax measure based on the historical industry average weighted-average cost 
of capital, with a possible debt leveraging of 14%. The terminal growth rate was 
determined based on management’s estimate of the long term compound EBITDA 
growth rate, consistent with the assumption that a market participant would make. 

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Goodwill
Other intangible assets

549,050
651,911

549,050
659,899

1,200,961 1,208,949

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Broadcasting operations
Fixed line business 

135,830
413,220

135,830
413,220 

549,050 549,050
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Net book value of the other intangible assets is as follows:

The Software in use represents all applications such as Oracle and Billing systems 
which are currently in use while the Capital in work in progress relates to the 
development of these systems. Software is being amortised on a straight-line basis 
over a period of 5 years.

Telecommunication license fees represent the fees charged by the Telecommunications 
Regulatory Authority to the Group to grant the license to operate as a telecommunications 
service provider in the UAE. The fees are being amortised on a straight-line basis over a 
period of 20 years which is the term of the license, from the date of granting the license.

Software  
in use

AED 000

Capital work 
in progress

AED 000

Telecomm-
unications

license fees
AED 000

Indefeasible 
right of use

AED 000
Total  

AED 000

Cost
At 1 January 2014

Additions
Transfers
Write off

1,073,327
37,807
69,690

(18)

111,866
113,260

(69,690)
-

124,500
-
-
-

320,604
27,887

-
-

1,630,297
178,954

-
(18)

At 31 December 2014 1,180,806 155,436 124,500 348,491 1,809,233

At 1 January 2015
Additions
Transfers
Write off

1,180,806
15,284

150,620
(748)

155,436
133,059

(150,620)
-

124,500
-
-
-

348,491
16,863

-
-

1,809,233
165,206

-
(748)

At 31 December 2015 1,345,962 137,875 124,500 365,354 1,973,691

Amortisation 
At 1 January 2014

Charge for the year
Write off

833,908
116,568

(16)

-
-
-

48,947
6,225

-

114,446
29,256

- 

997,301
152,049

(16)

At 31 December 2014 950,460 - 55,172 143,702 1,149,334

At 1 January 2015
Charge for the year
Impairment charge

Write off

950,460
127,248

7,843
(249)

-
-
-
-

55,172
6,225

-
-

143,702
31,379

-
-

1,149,334
164,852

7,843
(249)

At 31 December 2015 1,085,302 - 61,397 175,081 1,321,780

Net book value
At 31 December 2015 260,660 137,875 63,103 190,273 651,911

At 31 December 2014 230,346 155,436 69,328 204,789 659,899

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
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Other intangible assets
The additions to indefeasible right of use represent the fees paid to a telecom 
operator to obtain rights to use Indoor Building Solutions relating to certain sites in 
the UAE. The fees are amortised on a straight line basis over 10 years. Also included 
in the balance is an amount charged by an operator of a fibre-optic cable system 
for the right to use its submarine fibre-optic circuits and cable system. The fees are 
amortised on a straight-line basis over a period of 15 years from the date of activation 
of the cable system.

In the year 2013, the Group acquired 10% shares in Khazna Data Center Limited (“the 
Associate”), a limited liability company established in the Masdar City Free Zone, in 
the Emirate of Abu Dhabi. On 17 December 2014, the Group exercised first (in full) and 
second (in part) call options to acquire additional 16% interest in the ownership shares 
of the Associate as well as its contributed capital resulting in a total ownership of 26%. 
The business of the Associate is providing wholesale data centre services.

7. �Intangible assets (continued)

8. Investment in an associate

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

At 1 January
Increase in investment

Repayment of contributed capital
Share of profit/(loss) for the year

107,890
-
-

2,977

56,913
73,631

(21,686)
(968)

At 31 December 110,867 107,890

Summarised financial information for the  
Associate is as follows:

Statement of financial position as of 31 December:
Non-current assets

Current assets
Current liabilities

Non-current liabilities

555,807
65,167

(40,055)
(222,342)

507,090
95,317

(97,788)
(166,451)

Net assets 358,577 338,168

Income statement for the year ended 31 December:
Revenue

Profit /(loss) for the year
69,133
11,450

14,876
(9,678)
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2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

 Trade receivables
 Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables 

1,018,863
(480,238)

955,109
(423,389)

538,625 531,720

 Due from other telecommunications operators, net of 
provision for impairment

 Less: payable balances set off  
where right to set off exists

 Unbilled revenue

478,904

(434,797)
423,585

405,171

(247,026)
536,772

 Total trade receivables, net (Note 10.1)
 Advances to suppliers

 Prepayments
 Other receivables

1,006,317
119,692

242,440
79,910

1,226,637
183,518

232,084
67,254

1,448,359 1,709,493

During the year the Group entered into floating to fixed interest rate swaps with 
corresponding banks to hedge the interest rate risk relating to a portion of the floating 
rate interest payable on unsecured bank term loans. The terms of the loans include 
quarterly interest payments, at a rate of LIBOR + 0.95% on the outstanding principal 
amount (Note 15). 

The hedge covers the risk in variability of LIBOR over the entire term of the loans. The 
hedging instruments match the actual terms of the related interest payments on the 
loans in all respects, including LIBOR rate used, reset dates and notional amounts 
outstanding.

As of 31 December, the Group has the following derivative financial instruments:

9. Derivative financial instrument

10. Trade and other receivables

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Interest rate swap contracts – cash flow hedges 3,033 -

Total non-current derivative financial instrument assets 3,033 -

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
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10.1 The majority of the provision for impairment of trade receivables is against 
balances more than 180 days overdue. At 31 December 2015, AED 452,861 thousand 
of receivables are more than 180 days overdue against which impairment provision 
of AED 378,249 thousand is carried. (2014: AED 454,403 thousand and AED 332,925 
thousand, respectively).

The movement in the provision for impairment of trade receivables is as follows:

The movement in the provision for impairment of telecommunication operators is as 
follows:

Trade receivables are considered for impairment based on collection trends resulting 
in provisions against current and older balances. Ageing analysis of trade receivables 
is provided in Note 28.1. The Group had no significant concentration of credit risk. The 
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of 
receivables mentioned above.

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

At 1 January
Provision for impairment 
Write-off during the year

423,389
88,067

(31,218)

417,670
75,478

(69,759)

At 31 December 480,238 423,389

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

At 1 January
Provision/(reversal) for impairment

2,343
216

2,732
(389)

At 31 December 2,559 2,343

Total provision for impairment of receivables 482,797 425,732

10. �Trade and other receivables (continued)
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Related parties comprise the shareholders of the Company, entities under common 
shareholding, its directors, key management personnel and entities over which they 
exercise control, joint control or significant influence. The founding shareholders 
mentioned in the note are Emirates Investment Authority, Mubadala Development 
Company and Emirates Communications & Technology Company LLC.  Transactions 
with related parties are on terms and conditions approved by the Group’s 
management or by the Board of Directors.

Related party balances

Related party transactions
All transactions with related parties referred to below are carried out at normal 
commercial terms and conditions and at market rates. The following table reflects the 
gross value of transactions with related parties. 

11. Related party balances and transactions

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Due from related parties
Axiom Telecom LLC (Entity under common shareholding)

Founding shareholders
Tecom Investments FZ LLC  

(Entity under common shareholding)

190,892
206,253

-

234,650
230,994

831

397,145 466,475

Due to related parties
Tecom Investments FZ LLC  

(Entity under common control)
Khazna Data Centre Limited (Associate)

19,054
9,017

-
-

28,071 -

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Entities under common shareholding
 Tecom Investments FZ LLC:

- Office rent and services
- Infrastructure cost

 Axiom Telecom LLC – Authorised distributor – net sales
 Injazat Data Systems LLC – Data Centre - rent and services

Associate
 Khazna Data Centre Limited – rent and services

 Investment (Note 8)

60,703
60,626

2,687,872
8,055

43,309
-

55,046
16,082

3,163,197
12,735

-
73,631

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
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Short term investments represent bank deposits with maturity periods exceeding  
3 months from the date of acquisition. Management does not have any intention to 
hold these short term investments for more than 1 year from the reporting date.

The fee paid to Board of Directors during the year was AED 9,158 thousand  
(2014: AED 9,401 thousand). 

No loan has been provided to Directors, their spouses, children and relatives of the 
second degree and any corporates in which they own 20% or more. 

The Group also provides telecommunication services to the Federal Government 
(including Ministries and local bodies). These transactions are at normal commercial 
terms. In accordance with IAS 24 (revised 2009): Related Party Disclosures, the Group 
has elected not to disclose transactions with the UAE Federal Government and other 
entities over which the Federal Government exerts control, joint control or significant 
influence.

Key management compensation

12. Short term investments

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Short term employee benefits
Employees’ end of service benefits

Post-employment benefits
Long term incentives

37,028
697

2,923
10,757

43,125
1,235
1,101

7,459

51,405 52,920

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Short term investments 6,200,000 5,840,000

11. Related party balances and transactions (continued)
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For the purposes of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash 
equivalents comprise:

During the year 2015, the Group settled its previous term loan facilities and entered 
into new term loan facilities with reduced interest rates. The unamortised arrangement 
fee of AED 23,135 thousand on the previous term loan facilities was fully amortised 
during this year on settlement of the related facilities and recorded in finance expense.

13. Cash and bank balances

15. Borrowings

14. Trade and other payables

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Cash at bank (on deposit and call accounts)
Cash on hand

162,851
437

192,353
384

Less: margin on guarantees
163,288

(8,152)
192,737
(12,037)

Cash and cash equivalents 155,136 180,700

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Bank borrowings 
Buyer credit arrangements

4,297,995
193,463

4,044,103
386,495

Less: current portion of borrowings
4,491,458
(133,669)

4,430,598
(574,462)

4,357,789 3,856,136

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Trade payables and accruals
Due to other telecommunications operators

Less: receivable balances set off where right to set off exists
Accrued royalty (Note 24)

Deferred revenue
Customer deposits

Employee benefit accruals
Retention payable

Others

1,823,253
1,114,067
(434,797)
1,952,569

545,779
133,584
179,099
13,004

422

2,075,729
919,978

(247,026)
1,594,268

573,237
129,030
197,051
13,876
73,944

5,326,980 5,330,087

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
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The Group provides end of service benefits (defined benefit obligations) to its eligible 
employees. The most recent actuarial valuations of the present value of the defined 
benefit obligations were carried out at 31 December 2015 by a registered actuary in 
the UAE. The present value of defined benefit obligations and the related current and 
past service cost, were measured using the Projected Unit Credit Method. Changes in 
the present value of defined benefit obligations is as follows:

The provision is recognised based on the following significant actuarial assumptions:

The details of borrowings are as follows:

*The carrying value of borrowings of the Group approximates their face value.

16. Provision for employees’ end of service benefits

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

At 1 January
Current service cost

Interest cost
Benefits paid during the year

Actuarial gain recognised in other comprehensive income

165,396
30,058

6,709
(14,030)

(1,246)

143,697
42,943

-
(21,244)

-

At 31 December 186,887 165,396

2015 2014
Average period of employment (years)
Average annual rate of salary increase

Discount rate

7.37
2.50%
3.85%

3 to 5
4.30%
4.23%

15. Borrowings (continued)

Currency
Nominal 

interest rate
Year of 

maturity

Opening 
balance

AED 000
Drawn

AED 000
Settled

AED 000

Closing 
balance

AED 000

Old facilities settled
Unsecured term loan
Unsecured term loan
Unsecured term loan

USD
USD
USD

LIBOR+1.20%
LIBOR+1.15%
LIBOR+1.17%

2019
2019
2017

2,644,920
848,158
551,025

-
253,892

-

(2,644,920)
(1,102,050)

(551,025)

-
-
-

4,044,103 253,892 (4,297,995) -

Existing facilities
Unsecured term loan 1
Unsecured term loan 2
Unsecured term loan 3

USD
USD
USD

LIBOR+0.95% 
LIBOR+0.95% 
LIBOR+0.95%

2020
2020
2020

-
-
-

2,644,920
1,102,050

551,025

-
-
-

2,644,920
1,102,050

551,025

- 4,297,995 - 4,297,995

Buyer credit arrangements
Buyer credit arrangement 1
Buyer credit arrangement 2
Buyer credit arrangement 3

USD
USD
USD

LIBOR+1.50%
LIBOR+1.20%

Nil

2015
2017
2016

73,445
298,969

14,081

-
-

28,164

(73,445)
(119,588)
(28,163)

-
179,381
14,082

386,495 28,164 (221,196) 193,463
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Asset retirement obligations
In the course of the Group’s activities a number of sites and other commercial 
premises are utilised which are expected to have costs associated with exiting and 
ceasing their use. The associated cash outflows are substantially expected to occur 
at the dates of exit of the assets to which they relate, which are long-term in nature, 
primarily in period up to 10 years from when the asset is brought into use.

During the year the Group reassessed the estimated asset retirement obligation 
based on current experience and probability of the expected cash out flow relating to 
this liability resulting in release of provision. This has had no material impact on the 
profit and loss for the year.

The provision is recognised based on the following significant assumptions:

17. Provisions

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

At 1 January
Additions during the year

Release of provision
Unwinding of discount

113,279
1,906

(31,074)
4,207

97,989
11,593

-
3,697

At 31 December 88,318 113,279

2015 2014
Average period of restoration (years)

Inflation rate
Discount rate

10-15
3%

3.85%

10-15 
3%

8.3%

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
for the year ended 31 December 2015 (continued)
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Share 
based 

payment 
reserve

AED 000

Statutory 
reserve

(Note 20.1)
AED 000

Hedge 
reserve

(Note 20.2)
AED 000

Proposed 
dividend

AED 000
Total

AED 000
At 1 January 2014

Transfer to share based payment reserve 
Transfer to retained earnings
Transfer to statutory reserve

Interim cash dividend
Final cash dividend proposed

Cash dividends paid

93,581
2,855

(92,896)

-
-
-

664,221
-
-

210,935
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

868,571
-
-
-

548,571
914,286

(1,417,142)

1,626,373
2,855

(92,896)
210,935
548,571
914,286

(1,417,142)

At 31 December 2014 3,540 875,156 - 914,286 1,792,982

At 1 January 2015
Transfer to statutory reserve 
Transfer to retained earnings

Interim cash dividend
Special cash dividend 

Final cash dividend proposed
Cash dividends paid

Fair value changes on cash flow hedge 

3,540
-

(2,346)
-
-
-
-
-

875,156
194,135

-
-
-
-
-
-

-
-
-
-
-
-
-

3,033

914,286
-
-

594,286
457,143

914,286
(1,965,715)

-

1,792,982
194,135
(2,346)

594,286
457,143

914,286
(1,965,715)

3,033

At 31 December 2015 1,194 1,069,291 3,033 914,286 1,987,804

2015 2014
Authorised, issued and fully paid up share capital 

 (par value AED 1 each)
4,571,428,571 4,571,428,571

2015
AED 000 

2014
AED 000

Premium on issue of common share capital 393,504 393,504

18. Share capital

19. Share premium

20. Other reserves

20.1 �In accordance with the UAE Federal Law No. 2 of 2015 (‘Companies Law’) and 
the Company’s Articles of Association, 10% of the net profit is required to be 
transferred annually to a non-distributable statutory reserve. Such transfers are 
required to be made until the balance of the statutory reserve equals one half of 
the Company’s paid up share capital.

20.2 �Hedge reserve is related to derivative financial instrument (Note 9).
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2015
AED 000 

2014
AED 000

Provision for impairment of receivables (Note 10)
Office expenses

Consulting
Legal and license fees 

Others

88,283
75,274
65,134
20,742
24,703

75,089
64,937 
46,445
26,067
58,402 

274,136 270,940

2015
AED 000 

2014
AED 000

Less than one year
Between one and five years

More than five years

246,476
539,477
352,465

220,717
459,390
265,844

1,138,418 945,951

2015
AED 000 

2014
AED 000

Finance income
Interest income 112,821 93,095

Finance expenses
Interest expense*

Exchange loss, net
115,019

1,183
105,089

1,450

116,202 106,539

Consolidated financial statements

21. Other expenses

22. Operating leases
Leases
Non-cancellable operating lease rentals are payable as follows:

23 Finance income and expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the Group has paid AED 8,276 
thousand (2014: AED 11,497 thousand) for various social contribution purposes.

The Group leases a number of warehouses, premises and sites to operate its 
network. The leases typically run for a period of 5 to 20 years with an option to 
renew the lease upon expiry. Lease contracts contain terms to allow for annual 
increase to reflect market rentals.

*Interest expense includes early settlement fees amounted to AED 23,135 thousand (2014: AED 17,092 thousand)
(Note 15) and interest cost on defined benefit obligations amounted to AED 6,709 thousand (2014: Nil) (Note 16).

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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24. Royalty
The royalty rates payable to the UAE Ministry of Finance for the period from 2012 to 
2016 are as follows:

During the current year, the Group adjusted the royalty accruals for 2014 to reflect 
a change in calculation arising from new royalty Guidelines issued by the Ministry of 
Finance on 12 February 2015 applicable for 2014 onwards. Accruals for royalty for the 
current year has also been based on these new Guidelines.

Movement in the royalty accruals is as follows: 

Royalty 2012 2013 2014 2015 2016

On regulated revenue
On regulated profit after 

deducting royalty on 
licensed revenue 

5%

17.5%

7.5%

20%

10%

25%

12.5%

30%

15%

30%

2015
AED 000 

2014
AED 000

Total revenue for the year
Broadcasting revenue for the year (Note 30)

Other allowable deductions

12,337,048
(160,551)

(2,966,229)

12,238,365
(162,224)

(3,157,711)

Total adjusted revenue 9,210,268 8,918,430

Profit before royalty
Allowable deductions

3,861,911
(80,546)

3,701,543
-

Total regulated profit 3,781,365 3,701,543

Charge for royalty: 12.5% (2014:10%) of the total 
adjusted revenue plus 30% (2014: 25%) of net 

regulated profit for the year before distribution 
after deducting 12.5% (2014: 10%) of the total 

adjusted revenue.
Adjustments to charge 

1,940,308
(19,750)

1,594,268
(2,074)

1,920,558 1,592,194

2015
AED 000 

2014
AED 000

At 1 January
Payment made during the year

Charge for the year

1,594,268
(1,562,257)

1,920,558

1,075,047
(1,072,973)

1,592,194

At 31 December 1,952,569 1,594,268
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2015
AED 000 

2014
AED 000

Profit for the year (AED 000)
Weighted average number of shares 

Basic and diluted earnings per share (AED)

1,941,353
4,571,428,571

0.42

2,109,349
4,571,428,571

0.46

27. Contingent liabilities and commitments
The Group has outstanding capital commitments and bank guarantees amounting 
to AED 856,353 thousand and AED 8,152 thousand, respectively (2014: AED 757,417 
thousand and AED 12,037 thousand, respectively). Bank guarantees are secured 
against margin of AED 8,152 thousand (2014: AED 12,037 thousand) (Note 13).

28. Financial instruments
28.1 Credit risk
Exposure to credit risk
The carrying amount and the fair values of financial assets represent the maximum 
credit exposure. The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was:

For the purpose of the exposure to credit risk on financial assets disclosure, non-
financial assets amounting to AED 362,132 thousand (2014: AED 415,602 thousand) 
have been excluded from trade and other receivables.

25. Earnings per share

26. Changes in working capital

2015
AED 000 

2014
AED 000

Change in:
 Inventories 

Trade and other receivables
Trade and other payables

Due from related parties
Due to related parties

Payment of employees’ end of service benefits

66,946
205,843
(214,110)

30,430
28,071

(14,030)

(93,933)
(269,179)

195,773
(494)

(21,317)
(21,244)

Net changes in working capital 103,150 (210,394)

Note

Carrying amount Fair values

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Trade and other receivables
Due from related parties
Short term investments 

Cash and bank balances

10
11
12
13

1,086,227
397,145

6,200,000
163,288

1,293,891
466,475

5,840,000
192,737

1,086,227
397,145

6,200,000
163,288

1,293,891
466,475

5,840,000
192,737

7,846,660 7,793,103 7,846,660 7,793,103

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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28. Financial instruments (continued)
Impairment of trade receivables
The ageing of trade receivables is as follows:

The impairment provision in respect of trade receivables is used to record impairment 
losses unless the Group is satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; 
at that point the amounts considered irrecoverable are written-off against the financial 
asset directly. 

28.2 Liquidity risk
The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities along with fair values:

Gross
2015

AED 000

Impaired
2015

AED 000

Gross
2014

AED 000

Impaired
2014

AED 000

Not past due
Past due 0-30 days

Past due 31-180 days
More than 181 days

765,696
309,334
396,020
452,861

(2,875)
(6,625)

(95,048)
(378,249)

735,556
390,709
318,727

454,403

(12,084)
(11,622)
(69,101)

(332,925)

1,923,911 (482,797) 1,899,395 (425,732)

31 December 2015

Fair 
values 

AED 000

Carrying 
amount

AED 000

Contractual cash flows

Total
AED 000

6 months 
or less

AED 000

6-12 
months

AED 000

1-2 
years

AED 000

Above 
2 years

AED 000

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities

Borrowings
Trade payables and 

accruals
Due to other 

telecommunication 
operators

Customer deposits
Employee benefit 

accruals
Retention payable

Accrued royalty
Due to related 

parties
Others

4,491,458

1,823,253

679,270
133,584

179,099
13,004

1,952,569

28,071
422

4,491,458

1,823,253

679,270
133,584

179,099
13,004

1,952,569

28,071
422

4,694,236

1,823,253

679,270
133,584

179,099
13,004

1,952,569

28,071
422

108,583

1,823,253

679,270
133,584

179,099
13,004

1,952,569

28,071
422

93,980

-

-
-

-
-
-

-
-

840,415

-

-
-

-
-
-

-
-

3,651,258

-

-
-

-
-
-

-
-

9,300,730 9,300,730 9,503,508 4,917,855 93,980 840,415 3,651,258
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28.3 Currency risk
Exposure to currency risk
The Group’s exposure to foreign currency risk was as follows:

The following significant exchange rates against AED have been applied during the year:

31 December 2014

Fair 
values 

AED 000

Carrying 
amount

AED 000

Contractual cash flows

Total
AED 000

6 months 
or less

AED 000

6-12 
months

AED 000

1-2 
years

AED 000

Above 
2 years

AED 000

Non-derivative 
financial liabilities

Borrowings
Trade payables and 

accruals 
Due to other 

telecommunication 
operators

Customer deposits
Employee benefit 

accruals
Retention payable

Accrued royalty
Others

4,430,598

2,075,729

672,952
129,030

197,051
13,876

1,594,268
73,944

4,430,598

2,075,729

672,952
129,030

197,051
13,876

1,594,268
73,944

4,635,220

2,075,729

672,952
129,030

197,051
13,876

1,594,268
73,944

147,447

2,075,729

672,952
129,030

197,051
13,876

1,594,268
73,944

499,902

-

-
-

-
-
-
-

765,377

-

-
-

-
-
-
-

3,222,494

-

-
-

-
-
-
-

9,187,448 9,187,448 9,392,070 4,904,297 499,902 765,377 3,222,494

31 December 2015
Thousand

31 December 2014
Thousand

USD EUR GBP USD EUR GBP

Trade receivables
Trade payables

76,441
(109,224)

12,400
(595)

361
(1,199)

122,181
(260,152)

8,984
(10,221)

5,530
(967)

Net balance sheet exposure (32,783) 11,805 (838) (137,971) (1,237) 4,563

Average rate
Reporting date 

spot rate

2015 2014 2015 2014

USD 1
EUR 1
GBP 1

3.6735
4.1068
5.6471

3.6735
4.9147
6.0701

3.6735
3.9888
5.4134

3.6735
4.4444
5.7215

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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Sensitivity analysis
A 10 percent strengthening of the AED against the following currencies at  
31 December would have increased/(decreased) equity and profit by the amounts 
shown below. This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular interest 
rates, remain constant.

Conversely a 10 percent weakening of the AED against the above currencies at 31 
December will have had the exact reverse effect. In each of the above cases the impact 
on equity would have the same values as the above amounts.

28.4 Interest rate risk
Exposure to interest rate risk
The interest rate profile of the Group’s interest bearing financial instruments was:

Sensitivity analysis
An increase of 100 basis points in interest rates at the reporting date would have 
decreased equity and profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This analysis 
assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant. 

Conversely a decrease in interest rates by 100 basis points will have had the exact 
reverse effect. In each of the above cases the impact on equity would have the same 
values as the above amounts.

During the year the Group entered into floating to fixed interest rate swaps with 
corresponding banks to hedge the interest rate risk relating to a portion of the floating 
rate interest payable on unsecured bank term loans. Hedged portion of the bank term 
loans is not included in the sensitivity analysis (Note 9).

Increase/(decrease) in profit 
2015

AED 000
2014

AED 000

USD
EURO

GBP

12,043
(4,848)

473

50,678
550

(2,611)

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Decrease in profit
Variable interest rate instruments

28,389 43,495

Carrying Amount

2015
AED 000

2014
AED 000

Variable interest rate instruments
Bank borrowings

Buyer credit arrangements
4,297,995

193,463
4,044,103

386,495

4,491,458 4,430,598
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28.5 Financial instruments by category
The accounting policies for financial instruments have been applied to  
the line items below:

For the purpose of the financial instruments disclosure, non-financial assets and non-
financial liabilities amounting to AED 362,132 thousand and AED 545,779 thousand, 
respectively (2014: AED 415,602 thousand and AED 573,237 thousand, respectively) 
have been excluded from trade and other receivables and trade and other payables, 
respectively.

2015
AED 000 

2014
AED 000

Loans and receivables
Trade and other receivables

Due from related parties
Short term investments

Cash and bank balances

1,086,227
397,145

6,200,000
163,288

1,293,891
466,475

5,840,000
192,737

7,846,660 7,793,103

Borrowings
Trade and other payables

Due to related parties

4,491,458
4,781,201

28,071

4,430,598
4,756,850

-

9,300,730 9,187,448

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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29. Offsetting financial assets and financial liabilities 
Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the 
consolidated statement of financial position if, and only if, there is a currently 
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised amounts and there is an intention to 
settle on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

The following table presents the recognised financial instruments that are offset, as at 
31 December 2015 and 31 December 2014.

30. Segment analysis
The Group has operations only in the UAE. The Group is organised into four major 
business segments as follows:
•	 Mobile segment offers mobility services to the enterprise and consumer markets. 

Services include mobile voice and data, mobile content and mobile broadband 
WIFI. Mobile handset sales are also included in this segment.

•	 Fixed segment provides wire line services to the enterprise and consumer markets. 
Services include broadband, IPTV, IP/VPN business internet and telephony.

•	 Wholesale segment provides voice and data services to national and international 
carriers and operators. Services include termination of inbound international 
voice traffic, international roaming agreements and point-to-point leased line 
connectivity.

•	 Broadcasting segment delivers integrated satellite and broadcasting services to 
broadcasters and media companies.

31 December 2015 31 December 2014

Gross 
amounts
AED 000

Gross 
amounts 
set off in 

the balance 
sheet

AED 000

Net 
amount 

presented 
in the 

balance 
sheet

AED 000

Gross 
amounts
AED 000

Gross 
amounts 

set off 
in the 

balance 
sheet

AED 000

Net 
amount 

presented 
in the 

balance 
sheet

AED 000

Financial assets
Trade and other 

receivables 1,883,156 (434,797) 1,448,359 1,956,519 (247,026) 1,709,493

1,883,156 (434,797) 1,448,359 1,956,519 (247,026) 1,709,493

Financial liabilities
Trade and other 

payables 5,761,777 (434,797) 5,326,980 5,577,113 (247,026) 5,330,087

5,761,777 (434,797) 5,326,980 5,577,113 (247,026) 5,330,087
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Segment contribution, referred to by the Group as Gross Margin, represents revenue 
less direct costs of sales. It is calculated before charging network operating costs, 
sales and general and administration expenses. This is the measure reported to the 
Group’s Board of Directors for the purpose of resource allocation and assessment of 
segment performance.

The Group’s assets and liabilities have not been identified to any of the reportable 
segments as the majority of the operating fixed assets are fully integrated between 
segments. The Group believes that it is not practical to provide segment disclosure 
relating to total assets and liabilities since a meaningful segregation of available data 
is not feasible.

31 December 2015
Mobile

AED 000
Fixed

AED 000
Wholesale
AED 000

Broadcasting
AED 000

Total
AED 000

Segment revenue 8,989,984 2,554,834 631,679 160,551 12,337,048

Segment contribution 6,396,075 2,058,633 135,849 59,734 8,650,291

Unallocated costs
Finance income and expenses, 

other income, share of profit of 
investment in associate

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(4,791,305)

2,925

Profit before royalty 
Royalty

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

3,861,911
(1,920,558)

Profit for the year - - - - 1,941,353

31 December 2014
Mobile

AED 000
Fixed

AED 000
Wholesale
AED 000

Broadcasting
AED 000

Total
AED 000

Segment revenue 9,175,190 2,245,788 655,163 162,224 12,238,365

Segment contribution 6,110,453 1,786,618 153,274 57,796 8,108,141

Unallocated costs
Finance income and expenses, 
other income, share of loss of 

investment in associate

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

(4,398,346)

(8,252)

Profit before royalty 
Royalty

-
-

-
-

-
-

-
-

3,701,543
(1,592,194)

Profit for the year - - - - 2,109,349

Notes to the consolidated financial statements  
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